



Climate Change Expert Group Paper No. 2015(3)

Assessing Options to Increase Climate Support

Jane Ellis (OECD), Sara Moarif (OECD), Yoko Nobuoka (OECD), Marta Pellegrino (OECD) and Jennifer Helgeson (OECD)

OECD/IEA CLIMATE CHANGE EXPERT GROUP PAPERS

This series is designed to make available to a wider readership selected papers on climate change issues that have been prepared for the OECD/IEA Climate Change Expert Group (CCXG). The CCXG (formerly called the Annex I Expert Group) is a group of government delegates from OECD and other industrialised countries. The aim of the group is to promote dialogue and enhance understanding on technical issues in the international climate change negotiations. CCXG papers are developed in consultation with experts from a wide range of developed and developing countries, including those participating in CCXG Global Forums. The full papers are generally available only in English.

The opinions expressed in these papers are the sole responsibility of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the OECD, the IEA or their member countries, or the endorsement of any approach described herein.

Comments on the series are welcome, and should be sent to:

OECD Environment Directorate, 2 rue André Pascal, 75775 PARIS CEDEX 16, France, or by e-mail to env.contact@oecd.org

OECD/IEA Climate Change Expert Group Papers are published on www.oecd.org/environment/cc/ccxg.htm

This document and any map included herein are without prejudice to the status of or sovereignty over any territory, to the delimitation of international frontiers and boundaries and to the name of any territory, city or area.

The statistical data for Israel are supplied by and under the responsibility of the relevant Israeli authorities. The use of such data by the OECD is without prejudice to the status of the Golan Heights, East Jerusalem and Israeli settlements in the West Bank under the terms of international law.

© Copyright OECD/IEA (2015)

You can copy, download or print OECD content for your own use, and you can include excerpts from OECD publications, databases and multimedia products in your own documents, presentations, blogs, websites and teaching materials, provided that suitable acknowledgement of OECD as source and copyright owner is given.

All requests for commercial use and translation rights should be submitted to rights@oecd.org

Applications for permission to reproduce or translate all or part of this material should be addressed to:

Head of Publications Service, OECD/IEA 2 rue André-Pascal, 75775 Paris Cedex 16, France or 9 rue de la Fédération, 75739 Paris Cedex 15, France

FOREWORD

This document was prepared by the OECD and IEA Secretariats in response to a request from the Climate Change Expert Group (CCXG) on the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). The CCXG Expert Group oversees development of analytical papers for the purpose of providing useful and timely input to the climate change negotiations. These papers may also be useful to national policy-makers and other decision-makers. Authors work with the CCXG to develop these papers. However, the papers do not necessarily represent the views of the OECD or the IEA, nor are they intended to prejudge the views of countries participating in the CCXG. Rather, they are Secretariat information papers intended to inform Member countries, as well as the UNFCCC audience.

Members of the CCXG are Annex I and OECD countries. The Annex I Parties or countries referred to in this document are those listed in Annex I of the UNFCCC (as amended by the Conference of the Parties in 1997 and 2010): Australia, Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Croatia, Czech Republic, Denmark, the European Community, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Monaco, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, the Russian Federation, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, Ukraine, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, and the United States of America. As OECD member countries, Korea, Mexico, Chile, and Israel are also members of the CCXG. Where this document refers to "countries" or "governments", it is also intended to include "regional economic organisations", if appropriate.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This paper was prepared by Jane Ellis (OECD), Sara Moarif (OECD), Yoko Nobuoka (OECD), Marta Pellegrino (OECD) and Jennifer Helgeson (who co-authored this paper while at OECD but has subsequently left). The authors would like to acknowledge the helpful comments from their OECD/IEA colleagues Simon Buckle, Gregory Briner, Amanda Blank, Kate Eklin, Takashi Hattori, Christina Hood, Raphaël Jachnik, Christopher Kaminker, Osamu Kawanishi, Simone Landolina, Michael Mullan and Rob Youngman. This paper also benefited from participants' comments at the CCXG Global Forum in March 2015, where a draft version was presented, as well as subsequent written comments from delegates Elias Abourizk (Canada), Steffi Richter (Germany), Dina Spoerri (Switzerland) and Marianne Tegman (Swede

The Secretariat would like to thank Australia, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Japan, Korea, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland, and the UK for their direct funding of the CCXG in 2014/15, and the OECD, IEA and Japan for their in-kind support.

Ouestions and comments should be sent to:

Jane Ellis
OECD Environment Directorate
2, rue André-Pascal
75775 Paris Cedex 16
France
Email: jane.ellis@oecd.org

All OECD and IEA information papers for the Climate Change Expert Group on the UNFCCC can be downloaded from: www.oecd.org/environment/cc/ccxg.htm

ABSTRACT

Assessing Options to Increase Climate Support

Climate support will be an important element in reaching a post-2020 climate agreement at COP 21 in December 2015. To further increase and mobilise the levels of climate support post-2020, a number of proposals have been made in the negotiating text produced in the Geneva session of the Ad-hoc Working Group on the Durban Platform of the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) in February 2015.

This paper explores the advantages and disadvantages of several of these proposals, focusing on those that are clear and specific. The paper assesses proposals on mobilising climate finance using the following criteria: (i) the level of financial flows that they could generate; (ii) how much of this could be mobilised in the UNFCCC context; (iii) the ease of implementation of the proposal; (iv) if and how such increased mobilisation could be monitored; and (v) whether the proposal would fill a specific gap in the context of climate support within the UNFCCC. The paper undertakes a similar assessment for proposals in the Geneva text on enhancing the level of technology development and transfer, as well as capacity building. It discusses whether the proposals could potentially increase technology development and transfer, capacity building and development, as well as whether they are likely to do so in practice, based on current experience and ease of implementation. The proposals vary significantly in the amount of climate support they could mobilise (or enhance, in the case of technology and capacity building), for a range of reasons. These include the particular wording of the proposals, their sensitivity to national implementation, uncertainty in measuring progress towards objectives, and in some cases the limited role the UNFCCC plays as an institution in a given area of climate support.

JEL Classification: F53, O19, O30, O44, Q54, Q56, Q58

Keywords: means of implementation, climate finance, capacity building, technology transfer, UNFCCC, climate change, 2015 agreement

RÉSUMÉ

Évaluation des options envisageables pour accroître le soutien en faveur de l'action climatique

Le soutien en faveur de l'action climatique sera un élément important pour parvenir à un accord sur le climat pour l'après-2020 lors de la Conférence des Parties (COP21) de décembre 2015. Afin de renforcer l'appui financier et de mobiliser le niveau de soutien nécessaire à l'action climatique pour l'après-2020, un certain nombre de propositions ont été formulées dans le texte de négociation établi lors de la session du Groupe de travail spécial sur la plate-forme de Durban de la Convention-cadre des Nations unies sur les changements climatiques (CCNUCC) tenue à Genève en février 2015.

Ce rapport étudie les avantages et les inconvénients de plusieurs de ces propositions, en mettant l'accent sur celles qui sont précises et spécifiques. Les auteurs évaluent les propositions portant sur la mobilisation de financements climatiques au regard des critères suivants : (i) volume des ressources financières qu'elles pourraient permettre d'obtenir ; (ii) proportion de ces ressources pouvant être mobilisée dans le cadre de la CCNUCC ; (iii) facilité de mise en œuvre de la proposition; (iv) possibilité de suivi de cette mobilisation supplémentaire, et modalités de ce suivi ; et (v) capacité de la proposition à combler un manque spécifique dans le contexte du soutien climatique au titre de la CCNUCC. Le rapport livre une évaluation analogue des propositions contenues dans le texte de Genève portant sur la mise au point et le transfert de technologies, ainsi que sur le renforcement des capacités. Les auteurs examinent si les propositions formulées recèlent le potentiel d'intensifier la mise au point et le transfert de technologies, le développement et le renforcement des capacités, et sont susceptibles de le faire concrètement, en fondant leur analyse sur l'expérience actuelle et la facilité de mise en œuvre de la proposition. L'ampleur du soutien que ces propositions pourraient mobiliser (ou accroître, en ce qui concerne la technologie et le renforcement des capacités) varie considérablement selon les propositions, et ce pour différentes raisons, notamment : la formulation particulière de la proposition; sa sensibilité à une mise en œuvre dans un contexte national; le degré d'incertitude qu'elle présente s'agissant de la mesure les progrès accomplis au regard des objectifs ; et, dans certains cas, le rôle limité que joue la CCNUCC, en tant qu'institution, dans un domaine donné du soutien à l'action climatique.

Classification JEL: F53, O19, O30, O44, Q54, Q56, Q58

Mots clés : moyens de mise en œuvre ; financement climatique ; renforcement des capacités ; transfert de technologie ; CCNUCC ; changement climatique ; accord de 2015

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWORD	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	2
ABSTRACT	3
RÉSUMÉ	3
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	
1. INTRODUCTION	
2. TECHNICAL ASSESSMENT OF SPECIFIC SUGGESTIONS: FINANCE	
2.1 Current proposals – enhancing enabling environments	
2.2 Current proposals - sources of finance	13
2.2.1 Efforts by Export Credit Agencies to help investors manage risk	
2.2.2 Renewable energy and energy efficiency bond facility	15
2.2.3 Phasing down of high carbon investment and fossil fuel subsidies	16
2.2.4 Tax on oil exports from developing to developed countries to be established	
2.3 Current proposals - adaptation-specific	
2.3.1 Levies on market-based mechanisms	
2.3.2 Financial risk management instruments	
2.4 Current proposals – political goals	
2.4.1 Scaling up climate finance to meet the goal of limiting the temperature rise to less that	
2.4.2 Deliver adequate and predictable funding for adaptation	
2.4.3 Short-term collective quantified goal (post-2020) and provision of finance to be b	
floor of USD 100 billion per year	
3. TECHNICAL ASSESSMENT OF SPECIFIC SUGGESTIONS: TECHNOLOGY DEVEL	
AND TRANSFER	26
3.1 Definitions and context	27
3.2 A global goal on enhanced technology development and transfer	
3.3 Addressing barriers to technology development and transfer	
3.4 Technology needs assessments	32
3.5 Global collaboration on RD&D	
4. TECHNICAL ASSESSMENT OF SPECIFIC SUGGESTIONS: CAPACITY BUILDING	35
4.1 Definitions and context	36
4.2 Predictable targets and outcomes	
4.3 Integrating capacity building into "all elements"	
4.4 International capacity building mechanism	
5. CONCLUSIONS	40
REFERENCES	43
CLOSSADV	50

LIST OF TABLES

Table ES-1	Summary of the assessment of the selected proposals on finance	8
	Summary of the assessment of the selected proposals on technology and capacity building	
Table 1.	Implementing subsidy reforms	•
Table 2.	Possible risk mitigants and transaction enablers for climate change adaptation finance	
Table 3.	Summary advantages and disadvantages of different types of climate finance goals	

Executive summary

Agreement on the issue of climate support will be important in securing a post-2020 climate agreement that successfully limits climate change. Climate support (or "means of implementation"), including finance, technology and capacity building, is already being provided and mobilised by a vast array of actors. These include public and private sources that are channelled via domestic or international institutions. Climate support can be focused on direct support for specific actions or indirect support such as enhancing in-country enabling environments for green investment.

Several proposals for how to mobilise increased levels of climate support have been made in the context of the on-going international climate negotiations under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). This paper explores the advantages and disadvantages of several proposals made in the negotiating text produced at the Geneva session of the Ad-hoc Working Group on the Durban Platform (ADP), the body charged with negotiating a post-2020 climate agreement. Most proposals are focused on climate finance; some are on technology development and transfer, and capacity building. Significant uncertainty remains regarding both what exactly the proposals would entail and how they would be implemented at the national level.

The paper examines climate finance proposals that are clear and specific according to five criteria. It seeks to assess whether the selected proposals have high, medium or low potential to mobilise support, in two categories:

- Whether the proposal could help generate significant levels of financial resources (through both public and private, international and domestic means);
- How much of this could be mobilised for international climate finance in the UNFCCC context;

Proposals that are assessed as having the potential to mobilise over USD 100 billion are labelled as "high"; those classed as "medium" are those proposals that could mobilise between USD 20 -100 billion; proposals that would mobilise less than USD 20 billion a year are classed as "low". In addition, proposals are also assessed using the following criteria:

- Whether the proposal is likely to be implemented given various political, economic or social
 contexts and therefore whether it will actually deliver on its aims and potential if included within
 the UNFCCC framework;
- If/how such increased mobilisation could be monitored (based on current experience);
- Whether the proposal could fill a specific gap that is not currently addressed under the UNFCCC framework.

Table ES-1 presents a simplified overview of the climate finance proposals examined in this paper according to the five criteria listed above.

Table ES-2 provides a similar assessment for certain proposals in the Geneva text for technology and capacity building. It looks at: (i) their potential to increase levels of technology development and transfer, or capacity building and development; (ii) the likelihood of effectively fulfilling their potential, based on experience with existing processes; (iii) the ease with which outcomes could be monitored; and (iv) whether the UNFCCC framework currently addresses the actions suggested by the proposals. There are few clear answers and few proposals with high ratings. This relates to the particular wording of the current

proposals which are narrow in scope and uncertain, as well as to the limited role of climate change as a driver (and the UNFCCC as an institution) in technology development.

In practice, it is challenging to clearly separate climate finance from the other forms of support (i.e. technology development and transfer, and capacity-building). For example, finance can be used for capacity building, acquiring technologies or supporting implementation of relevant policies for both areas. In particular, capacity availability can be a pre-requisite for implementing climate-related action.

The proposals vary significantly in the level of resources they could mobilise (e.g. Export Credit Agencies compared to fossil fuel subsidy reform). Those proposals that could generate significant levels of resources might not necessarily mobilise more international climate finance for developing countries; some proposals (e.g. phasing down of high-carbon investments) would free up domestic resources which may or not be subsequently earmarked as climate finance. In addition, some proposals (e.g. tax on oil exports) would be more difficult to implement, while for others (e.g. use of financial risk management instruments to mobilise climate finance for adaptation) there is insufficient data to accurately assess their potential. Not all the proposals would fulfil new functions or fill specific gaps within the UNFCCC. Finally, some proposals rely too heavily on processes outside the UNFCCC to be effective on their own (e.g. in the area of technology development and transfer).

Setting quantified goals for the provision of support requires striking a balance between the long timeframes over which capacity development, planning and implementation occur, and the short timeframes over which predictable financial flows (e.g. public finance) can be provided. Previous experience suggests short-term disbursement targets can lead to inefficient allocation of financial resources, in terms of their impact and achievement of stated objectives. Setting quantified goals is also complicated by the numerous methodological uncertainties that exist for identifying and quantifying climate finance. Further, quantified goals do not necessarily consider how effectively funding has been allocated and spent, e.g. to ensure it fits agreed criteria for aid effectiveness such as ownership, alignment, and harmonisation.

The goals and objectives of climate support will need to be tailored to different country circumstances. In many cases, measuring progress towards objectives relating to climate support would be possible - although subject to considerable uncertainty. This uncertainty will need to be taken into account as countries determine the shape climate support provisions will take in the 2015 agreement. Balancing global objectives with how they will be implemented nationally, and the need to manage uncertainties, will contribute to the durability and flexibility of the 2015 agreement.

Table ES-1- Summary of the assessment of the selected proposals on finance

Proposal (and section in which this is discussed)	Potential to generate financial resources ¹	Potential to mobilise climate finance	Ease of implementation	Ease of monitoring	Currently addressed under UNFCCC provisions/institutions?
Section 2. Finance		-	-	=	
2.1. Enhancing enabling environments	High/Medium/Low	High/Medium/Low	High/Medium/Low	Low	Partially (e.g. via GCF, GEF, REDD+)
2.2.1. Export credit Agencies to help investors manage risk	Uncertain/Low	Uncertain/Low	High	Low	No
2.2.2. Renewable energy and energy efficiency bond facility	High/Medium	High/Medium	Medium	Medium	No
2.2.3.1. Phasing down high-carbon investments	Medium	Medium/Low	High/Medium/Low	Low	No
2.2.3.2. Phasing down fossil-fuel subsidies	High	Low	Medium/Low	Low	No (agreed to in G20)
2.2.4.Tax on oil exports from developing to developed countries	Medium/Low	Medium/Low	Low	Low	No
2.3.1. Levies on market- based mechanisms for adaptation	Low	Low	High	High	Yes for CDM
2.3.2. Financial risk management instruments for adaptation	Uncertain	Uncertain	Medium	Low	No

_

¹ For potential to generate financial resources and potential to mobilise climate finance, proposals that could mobilise USD 100 billion or more a year are labelled as "high"; those between USD 20 -100 billion as "medium" and those less than USD 20 billion as "low".

Table ES-2 – Summary of the assessment of the selected proposals on technology and capacity building

Proposal (and section in which this is discussed)	Potential to increase tech development and transfer or CB?	Likely to effectively meet its aim?	Ease of monitoring?	Currently addressed under UNFCCC provisions or institutions?
Section 3. Technology Development	and Transfer			
3.2. Global goal on enhanced technology development and transfer	Medium	Medium/Low (as currently drafted)	Medium (development)/Low (transfer)	No
3.3. Addressing barriers to technology development and transfer	Medium	Low	Medium	Yes
3.4. Technology needs assessments	Medium	Low	High	Yes
3.5. Global collaboration on RD&D	High/Medium	Medium/Low	Medium	No
Section 4. Capacity Building (CB)	l			
4.2. Predictable targets and outcomes	Medium	Low	Medium	No
4.3. Integrating CB into 'all elements'	High/Medium	Medium	Low	Partially (recognised as part of CB Framework and activities)
4.4. International CB mechanism	Uncertain	Uncertain	Uncertain	No

1. Introduction

Increased resources for responding to climate change, if used effectively, will help to increase the level of mitigation and adaptation activity. There are different ways of channelling support for developing country climate actions, i.e. via climate finance, technology and/or capacity building. However, in practice these are not usually clearly distinguishable "forms" of support; for example, finance can be used for capacity building or implementing technology-specific policies. These three ways are referred to in the international climate negotiations as "means of implementation", though the term is not used in the negotiating text produced during the latest round of negotiations in Geneva (February 2015). All three play important roles under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), and are expected to continue to do so in the climate regime that is set to be agreed at the 21st Conference of the Parties (COP 21) at the end of 2015, and that will come into effect from 2020. Domestic factors such as capacity, enabling environments, and policy alignment influence the effectiveness of support provided.

There are also distinct institutional arrangements in place for climate finance, technology transfer and capacity building under the Convention. These aim to enhance the provision of all three forms of support, and efforts have been made to better integrate them (TEC, n.d.). Reporting systems for Parties are also in place for these forms of support, though they are imprecise and do not always provide the information necessary to track the final destination and use of different forms of climate support. This complicates assessments of progress towards the developed country climate finance commitment of mobilising USD 100 billion per year by 2020 for developing country climate action (UNFCCC, 2010a).

Information availability on the mobilisation of climate support for developing countries is growing, mostly for climate finance. This support can come from a vast array of public or private sources; be channelled via domestic or international institutions; focus on direct support for specific actions or on indirect support such as enhancing in-country enabling environments for green investment. However, information on climate support is currently incomplete. While information on public climate-related development finance is available (SCF, 2014; DAC, 2013), there are significant gaps and large uncertainties surrounding the largest source of climate finance, i.e. private finance, in all sectors other than renewable energy (Jachnik, Caruso and Srivastava 2015; Clapp et al., 2012). Moreover, it is not always straightforward to distinguish between public and private sources of climate finance.

Several proposals on how to mobilise increased levels of climate support have been made in the negotiating text produced in the Geneva session of the Ad-hoc Working Group on the Durban Platform for Enhanced Action (ADP) (UNFCCC, 2015). Most of these proposals are focused on climate finance and targeted towards the actors that provide or mobilise support (e.g. public contributors and the private sector). These proposals have been put forward by different countries or groupings of countries, and have garnered various levels of backing from others. Moreover, some proposals focus on an end-point, rather than how they would be implemented in order to reach this end-point. This paper explores the technical advantages and disadvantages of several of these proposals to mobilise climate support, focusing on the proposals that are most clear, specific, and potentially implementable. The paper assesses the selected proposals using the following criteria (also used for Table ES-1):

- Whether the proposal could help generate significant levels of financial resources, (through both public and private, international and domestic means);
- How much of this could be in the context of mobilised international climate finance in the UNFCCC context (for example, via the Green Climate Fund);
- Whether the proposal is likely to be implemented given various political, economic or social contexts;

- If/how such increased mobilisation could be monitored;
- Whether the proposal could fill a specific gap that is not currently addressed under UNFCCC provisions or institutions.

The paper does not seek to identify new (but not yet proposed) provisions that the 2015 agreements could include for mobilising means of implementation. Further, the structure of the paper reflects the structure of the proposed negotiation text, i.e. it separately examines proposals for finance, technology and capacity building, even though provision of these different types of climate support is frequently integrated (discussed further in Box 1 and Section 4.3). Information on technology and capacity building support is sometimes presented in monetary terms (Aoki, 2013; Corfee-Morlot et al., 2009), but is also difficult to define and track. Moreover, political issues such as the level of support that is needed, what proportion of this should be committed to under the UNFCCC process, and how support should be allocated, are outside the scope of this paper. Section 2 of this paper focuses on proposals made regarding climate finance, section 3 on technology, section 4 on capacity building. Section 5 presents initial insights.

Box 1. Separate vs. integrated treatment of finance, technology and capacity building

While there is general agreement that climate finance, technology and capacity building are all important aspects of climate support, there is as yet no agreement as to whether these three aspects should be addressed separately or in an integrated manner in the 2015 agreement. The Geneva negotiation text includes both options, but with a focus on separate coverage of finance, technology and capacity building.

Current institutions and arrangements under the UNFCCC sometimes treat finance, capacity building and technology separately, and sometimes in an integrated manner. For example, the Durban Forum on Capacity Building focuses just on this aspect of support by collecting and sharing information and lessons learned (see e.g. Briner et al 2014). In contrast, the Green Climate Fund includes a specific work item on readiness support, which includes capacity building activities such as the development and strengthening of institutions and mechanisms (GCF, 2013a).

Advantages of having separate provisions for the different aspects of climate support include ensuring that sufficient attention is given to all aspects. However, in practice, these issues are often linked. Thus, multilateral sources of climate finance can often include capacity building (e.g. GEF) and/or technology-related (e.g. Clean Technology Fund) components. This means that treating the different aspects of climate support separately may impede development of integrated programmes, particularly from the perspective of countries receiving the support.

2. Technical assessment of specific suggestions: finance

The Geneva negotiating text (UNFCCC, 2015) includes some proposals specific to the issue of climate finance, including: guiding principles, institutional arrangements for the legal agreement, scale of resources, national contributions, and sources of finance. Sections 2.1 and 2.2 deal with the more technical elements of enhancing enabling environments and sources of finance, while section 2.3 explores specific elements proposed for adaptation finance. These sections explore several of the proposals by outlining what they could entail, and assessing them for the four outcomes mentioned above: mobilisation potential, ease of implementation and monitoring, and whether currently addressed within the UNFCCC. Section 2.4 examines political goals, encompassing several proposals on the scale of resources.

2.1 Current proposals – enhancing enabling environments

As well as addressing the scale of resources, the Geneva text also includes suggestions for the scope and form of climate finance contributions under the legal agreement, which include specific suggestions relating to a country's enabling or policy environment. Paragraph 112 includes an option whereby a "commitment of all Parties" would be an "enhancement of enabling environments"

(Option 2 of the same paragraph would be to have an agreement to not specify the enhancement of enabling environments). Option 1 specifically indicates four elements of enabling environments:

- a) "Enhanced national regulatory frameworks, including policies and measures.
- b) The dedication of sufficient domestic resources by countries seeking support.
- c) Putting in place conditions to mobilise, attract and absorb climate-related investments.
- d) Provision of a price signal for emission reductions, including through payments for verified emission reductions."

The importance of enhancing enabling to more effectively access and use climate finance is already addressed within the UNFCCC, for example, via the Green Climate Fund (GCF), Global Environment Facility (GEF) and the Warsaw Framework for reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation in developing countries (REDD+). While this proposal could potentially complement current provisions and institutions, it is not necessarily clear how: Under Article 4.2a of the UNFCCC, all Parties already have commitments to "regularly update ... programmes containing measures to mitigate climate change..., and measures to facilitate adequate adaptation to climate change". It is not clear how the option (a) above would add to this current commitment. However, if this provision resulted in certain countries enhancing their national regulatory frameworks compared to other countries, it could result in greater mobilisation of private finance, both domestically and internationally.

There are a number of ways to implement each element listed in the proposal, which makes it difficult to assess the overall potential of an element as well as the entire proposal, even though it could potentially be very high. The mobilisation potential as well as the ease of implementation would vary depending on the specific measure and national circumstances. Regarding option (a), national regulatory frameworks and policies and measures are already in place to some extent in both developed and developing countries, including the more specific measure listed in option (d) (provision of a price signal for emission reductions). The impact of domestic policies and measures on attracting (or inhibiting) climate-related investments has been well-documented, particularly for the renewable energy sector. For example, UNESCAP (n.d.) highlights the importance of national targets and policies in the growth of investment in wind power capacity in China: installed capacity of wind power grew sharply from 0.53 gigawatts (GW) in 2003 to 31 GW in 2010. Also, Mexico saw a 348% rise in renewable energy investment in 2010 following the increase of its renewable energy targets from 3.3% to 7.6% in 2009 (REN21, 2011). Similarly, the rapid growth in German wind electricity generation during the 1990s has been attributed to its electricity feed-in act of 1991 (IRENA. n.d.). In contrast, recent retroactive policy changes to renewable energy support in various countries have had a negative effect (Siemens, 2012).

Enabling environments vary across countries. Thus, improving these enabling environments will have a greater or lesser effect on mobilising climate finance depending on how attractive the current policy framework is to climate-friendly investment. According to OECD (2015a), governments have a central role to play in mobilising private capital for a low-carbon energy transition, through reform agendas that strengthen the framework conditions for green investment. Policy makers need to ensure that: investors, producers and consumers receive consistent signals across the full breadth of the regulatory landscape; and that climate and investment policies are well integrated so as to provide the predictable environment that investors need.

Regarding the impact of domestic policies on mobilising climate finance, there have been attempts to estimate this in quantitative terms. Recent OECD analysis has indicated that more ambitious renewable energy policies in developing countries would be expected to lead to a greater mobilisation of private climate finance in these countries (Haščič et al., 2015). For example, an analysis shows that if feed-in tariff levels for solar energy in developing countries were comparable to those in the

developed countries, they could have mobilised an additional USD 50 billion of private finance during the 2000-2011 period (ibid.). In contrast, other policies can inhibit investment in renewable energy. For example, evidence suggests that local-content requirements in the solar photovoltaic and wind energy sectors have hindered international investment and have had mixed or negative results in creating local jobs, because they raise costs for downstream activities in these sectors (OECD, 2015,forthcoming).

In terms of option (c) above, putting in place conditions to absorb climate finance could help to increase the efficiency of climate finance, as well as to reduce delays in disbursement and address geographical gaps. Limited capacities have proven to be a significant barrier to accessing and managing climate finance for several African countries, as well as small island developing states (SIDS) (e.g. AfDB, 2012; Murabula, n.d.). However, improving capacity for absorbing climate finance would not necessarily increase the total levels of climate finance mobilised, although it could improve the impact and effectiveness of its use. Some developing country biennial update reports (BURs) have highlighted support needs and constraints (see, e.g. the BUR for South Africa and for Vietnam) (DEA, 2014). Because of variations in national circumstances, individual needs for different countries vary widely. It would therefore be difficult to prescribe specific measures that would help countries increase their absorptive capacity for climate finance under a 2015 agreement.

In terms of tracking and monitoring, the current reporting guidelines provide significant flexibility in the content of national reports, including for describing domestic policy environments, particularly for non-Annex I countries. For example, non-Annex I countries are encouraged (but not required) in their BURs to report on their individual mitigation policies and measures. Reporting requirements for mitigation measures in non-Annex I National Communications are less stringent (see UNFCCC, 2002). Reporting guidelines for provision of climate support do not include reporting of autonomous climate finance (i.e. finance that has not been mobilised by developed countries). Thus, if the proposed text in paragraph 112a was agreed, it is not clear that information would become available to robustly assess progress towards enhancing enabling environments.

As discussed above, the mobilisation potential and the ease of implementation could vary between "high/medium/low". This depends greatly on the national contexts and on the specific measure prescribed. Monitoring the outcomes of enhancing enabling environments would be "low" as existing reporting guidelines are flexible which explains why information to track improvements in enabling environments might not be available. It is also hard to disentangle the exact implications and outcomes of many policies, frameworks or measures, which increases the difficulty in monitoring and tracking. Furthermore, as mentioned above, enabling environments is not a new concept under the UNFCCC. For this reason it is assessed as being "partially" addressed under the UNFCCC in Table ES-1 (e.g. GCF, GEF, REDD+).

2.2 Current proposals - sources of finance

The Geneva text includes options for sources of the "financial resources to be mobilised and provided". There are several sub-options provided; this section focuses on those that are more specific, clearly defined or potentially actionable.

2.2.1 Efforts by Export Credit Agencies to help investors manage risk

Paragraph 128.1a of the Geneva text lists "efforts undertaken by Export Credit Agencies to help investors manage risk" as an action to leverage, mobilise or utilise private finance (UNFCCC, 2015). Export Credit Agencies (ECAs) offer financing services to companies in order to encourage exports, which are provided to national exporters through various forms of support (OECD, 2014a):

a) Official financing support. This includes:

- Direct credit/financing and refinancing financed by ECAs, loans for projects overseas provided on favourable terms (e.g. extended maturity) which are usually not provided by private commercial banks (IPCC, 2000).
- Interest rate support (government supports a fixed interest rate for the life of the credit)
- b) Export credit guarantee or insurance offered to cover or insure domestic investors against possible losses resulting from an investment or export.

ECAs mitigate the risk and uncertainty of payments for exporters; they do so by taking the risk themselves in return for a premium (interest rate). The exports encouraged by ECAs can include technologies and systems that contribute to climate change mitigation or adaptation. ECAs are therefore a potential source of public climate finance that can be used to mobilise private climate finance (EFK, 2014). However, early estimates indicate that export credits are a relatively small source of climate finance (Clapp et al., 2012). Specific examples also indicate that export credits may not mobilise significant levels of private climate finance (e.g. EFK, 2014; Sumitomo Corporation, 2012).

In some cases, export credits cover the total value of projects, so do not result in private finance mobilisation. However, in other cases, support provided by ECAs covers only part of a project, and therefore can mobilise private climate finance. For example, Euler Hermes, mandated to manage Germany's export credit guarantee, provided guarantees constituting 80% of the total loan to the Dorper Wind Farm Project in South Africa (Sumitomo Corporation, 2012). Likewise, Danish Export Credit Agency EFK often backs projects together with other ECAs, development banks or pension funds, therefore only covering part of the funding (e.g. Jädraås Onshore Windfarm) (CPI, 2013a; EFK, 2014). Current data on export credits is listed either by sector or by country, but not routinely "tagged" for climate relevance. While there is a good overlap between the renewable energy sector and climate mitigation, the link between other sectors and mitigation or adaptation activities is less clear (e.g. rail transport, agriculture or water supply). It is therefore currently not possible to obtain estimates of the level of total export credits going towards low-carbon or climate-resilient activities. The vast majority of export credits that go to climate-relevant sectors focus on actions with a mitigation component (TAD/XCR 2014 pers. comm.)

According to DAC statistics, in recent years export credits for corporations active in developing countries have decreased, from USD 75 billion in 2010 to USD 55 billion in 2012 (OECD, 2014b). During this period, middle income countries (emerging economies such as Turkey, India, Brazil, Mexico, and China) were the main beneficiaries. These figures represent the amount that is covered by export credit agencies and not the overall value of projects. The decrease in export credit volumes is likely to partially be a consequence of lower risks of investment in renewable energy due to improved and cheaper technologies. Investors are more likely to invest relying less on ECAs.

As data on export credits is currently patchy, the impact ECAs can have on mobilising climate finance is uncertain and it is currently not possible to estimate the level of mobilisation this proposal could provide². The mobilisation potential is classified as "uncertain/low" based on current estimates of export credit financing in developing countries, which cover all export credits; as climate-related support is only a subsection of these estimates, mobilisation potential would be even lower. Further, as ECAs are demand driven, they have limited potential to directly target green development (WRI, 2005). The ease of implementing this proposal is considered "high". ECAs are existing institutions with the objective of reducing risk for investors; hence this proposal would be an enhancement of current activities with a focus on directing investments towards climate-related projects. However, monitoring and tracking the efforts undertaken by ECAs to help investors manage risk would be difficult given the lack of information availability, as discussed above, and is hence assessed as "low".

_

² At present, the OECD is working on improving data availability and transparency on export credits, aiming to obtain improved information on export credits directed to climate-related projects.

2.2.2 Renewable energy and energy efficiency bond facility

Paragraph 128.1c of the Geneva text calls for the establishment of an "international renewable energy and energy efficiency bond facility", as a possible source of "private and alternative" finance. In order to mobilise finance for a particular activity, governments or other entities (e.g. banks, corporations, individual projects) can issue bonds. The bond issuer commits to repay the bond purchaser a fixed return for a specified duration, on top of the return of capital invested at the end of the specified duration of the bond. Green bonds can be attractive to private investors, in particular to institutional investors, as bonds are traditionally their favoured asset class (Kaminker et al., 2013).

Bonds can thus be used as a debt instrument to mobilise financing for mitigation or adaptation activities. Indeed, there has been an enormous growth in issuances of "green bonds" over the last few years. Climate Bonds Initiative (2014) classifies climate-themed bonds into those that are labelled as "green", and those that are unlabelled; in the latter, proceeds are directed to climate-related projects, but not labelled "green". The total market for climate-themed bonds is estimated at USD 503 billion in 2014 (Climate Bonds Initiative, 2014). Issuance of labelled "green" bonds has grown from less than USD 5 billion in 2010, to USD 11 billion in 2013, to USD 36.6 billion in 2014 and is projected to grow to USD 100 billion in 2015. (Climate Bonds Initiative, 2015). Green bonds can raise debt financing for a wide variety of activities. For example, the green bonds issued by the World Bank (which has raised USD 7 billion via this method to date) include bonds for transport systems and water and irrigation management activities (World Bank, 2015). Renewable energy and energy efficiency bonds would be a sub-set of green bonds, with proceeds "ear-marked" for these activities. While it is not clear what share renewable energy and energy efficiency would comprise, green bonds have the potential to mobilise significant levels of green investment finance. This potential stems from the depth of the global bond markets (valued at over USD 100 trillion in 2014), and the potential alignment with the portfolios of mainstream institutional investors that manage USD 93 trillion in assets in OECD countries (OECD, 2015b).

Over the last few years, the issuers of green bonds and the types of bonds that have been issued have become increasingly diverse. National and municipal governments (e.g. Ile de France), as well as supranational institutions and agencies (e.g. development banks and Export Credit Agencies), were early issuers of green bonds. Since 2013, issuers have expanded to corporations in the form of "use of proceeds" corporate bonds and asset backed securities (e.g. GDF Suez, Toyota Financial Services and SolarCity), as well as projects themselves (e.g. Topaz solar and Shepherd's Flat wind) (OECD, 2015b). Voluntary guidelines have been developed by Climate Bonds Initiative and the International Capital Market Association, intended to improve transparency and information disclosure for investors and governments (ICMA, 2014). Developing rules for any international bond facility could therefore usefully build on existing standards.

The Green Climate Fund (GCF) has a Private Sector Facility (PSF) which allows it to finance private sector mitigation and adaptation activities at local, national and international levels (GCF, 2013b). The PSF currently addresses barriers to private investments as a way of mobilising finance, and the GCF Board will consider further modalities for the PSF to mobilise private sector resources at large scale (GCF, 2014a). Bond programmes are seen as the largest single avenue through which the GCF could achieve such mobilisation. In the short-term, the GCF could work through national and regional accredited entities to facilitate issuance of bonds through structuring and de-risking instruments, such as providing credit or first-loss mechanisms (GCF, 2015). In the medium- to long-term the GCF could itself issue bonds, if it receives an "A" or higher risk rating, and builds a sound risk portfolio and architecture (e.g., strong liquidity and solvency attributes) or sufficiently strong financial support from states that are investment grade (ibid.).

There are pros and cons to creating a single new facility. It is not clear this would increase issuance of green bonds and mobilisation of finance compared with using existing facilities and institutions, including the GCF in the future. Given the overlap within the current facilities and institutions, raising a new flow of capital for a new facility could be difficult. It is also unclear why the bond facility

should be limited to renewable energy and energy efficiency activities; this would restrict rather than expand the mobilisation potential of green bonds. However, centralising the provision of green bonds could improve the consistency of environmental standards of such bonds, as well as improve monitoring of the climate finance raised by such bonds.

Given the current and projected scale of bond markets worldwide, increasing issuance of green bonds has the potential to mobilise significant quantities of climate finance, though less so if limited to renewable energy and energy efficiency. Hence the mobilisation potential is considered as "high/medium". The ease of implementation of creating a single new facility is assessed as "medium". It has the potential to harmonise standards of green bonds internationally whilst at the same time could be contentious as it would overlap or replace already existing and functioning bond facilities including governments, development banks and corporations. Monitoring and tracking could build on the existing institutions such as Climate Bonds Initiative. However, it would depend on international data availability and require expanded capacity to avoid double-counting of climate finance via bonds. Hence, the ease of monitoring and tracking is considered "medium".

2.2.3 Phasing down of high carbon investment and fossil fuel subsidies

Paragraph 128.1d of the Geneva text suggests "phasing down" of high-carbon investments and fossil fuel subsidies. These are listed as sources of private and alternative finance.

2.2.3.1 High-carbon investments

High-carbon investments can take various forms, from asset investment in fossil fuel power plants, to equity in high-carbon emitting companies. The definition of "high-carbon" is not clear in the Geneva negotiation text but it could broadly indicate unabated fossil fuels (i.e. coal, oil and natural gas) or it could specifically mean unabated coal, as it has the highest carbon content of all the fossil fuels. In equity markets, divestment from high-carbon companies by investors could be considered as phasing down. A number of institutions, including CDP (formerly known as Carbon Disclosure Project) and Carbon Tracker Initiative, provide information on publicly listed companies' greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and carbon emitting assets (i.e., fossil fuel reserves) to inform divestment. The value of such investments, represented by market capitalisation, is large: the total market value of 200 large fossil fuel equities globally amounted to USD 4 trillion at the end of 2012 (CTI, 2013).

On average USD 62 billion per year was invested in fossil-fuel fired power plants in non-OECD countries from 2000 to 2013 (IEA, 2014a). Of this, USD 43 billion was in coal and USD 16 billion in gas-fired generation facilities. Redirecting these investments to less GHG-intensive alternatives would limit carbon emissions in non-OECD that would have otherwise occurred from these assets.

High-carbon investments can be financed from public or private as well as from domestic or international sources. In India, government statistics show that the foreign direct investment in its power sector was USD 1.1 billion in fiscal year 2013 (from April 2013 to March 2014) (MCI, 2014). The government is expecting total investments in the power sector of USD 224 billion over its 12th five-year plan (2012 to 2017) (i.e., an average of USD 45 billion per year) (MEA, 2014). While comprehensive and comparable data for domestically and internationally sourced investments are unavailable, these figures imply that the majority of investments in the country would be financed domestically rather than internationally. Thus, while redirecting financial flows toward less GHG-intensive investments would increase resources available for mitigation, there may not be a straightforward link between reducing high-carbon investments and increasing international climate finance in developing countries.

Some development banks have made efforts to phase-down high-carbon investment in developing countries. For example, the World Bank indicated it will financially support green-field coal power generation projects only in rare circumstances, while it will assist gas-fired generation and natural gas across the entire supply chain (World Bank, 2013). The European Bank for Reconstruction and

Development also indicated in its Energy Sector Strategy that it will not finance investment in coal-fired power generation, except in rare and exceptional circumstances (EBRD, 2013). In addition, the European Investment Bank's assessment and screening criteria for energy sector lending would screen out power only coal- or lignite-fired power stations (EIB, 2013). In announcing the phase down of high-carbon investment, these multilateral development banks emphasise their focus on renewables and energy efficiency, indicating the shift from brown (high-carbon) to green (low-carbon) investments (World Bank, 2013; EIB, 2013; ADB, 2013; ERDB, 2014). Multilateral development banks play an important role in channelling climate finance (Kato, Ellis and Clapp, 2014a); their shift from "brown" to "green" investments would likely have a positive impact on mobilising finance for low-carbon investments.

Phasing down high carbon investments could lead to some greater mobilisation of climate finance, though most of the potential would depend on how much money could be redirected from high-carbon investments (in infrastructure for example), and is therefore assessed as "medium" or "medium/low". Moreover, whether this proposal is implementable at the national level would depend on national circumstances (e.g. electricity demand growth and current capacity), and a given country's ability and willingness to phase-down such investments, therefore assessed as "high/medium/low".

Financial institutions could also estimate how much of the climate finance they provide is a result of reduced high-carbon investments. This could build on efforts by development banks and bilateral financial institutions to track and monitor the climate finance they provide. Indeed, six multilateral development banks release an annual joint report on climate finance provided for mitigation, adaptation and projects that are both mitigation and adaptation related (MDB Joint Reporting, 2014). However, quantifying the shift from reduced high-carbon investments would involve estimating a baseline for such investments, on top of which there is as yet no consensus on how to calculate mobilised climate finance. There could therefore be considerable uncertainties in tracking and monitoring climate finance mobilised from reducing fossil fuel investments (assessed as "low").

2.2.3.2 Fossil fuel subsidies

Support for fossil fuels, e.g. in the form of subsidies, decreases the cost of fossil fuels, and thus encourages increased consumption of such fuels. Subsidies can also strain government budgets in some countries. Removing fossil fuel subsidies can help increase the level of funding available to governments while decreasing GHG emissions (IEA, 2014b).

Removing or reforming fossil fuel subsidies has been addressed in different international fora. At their 2009 Summit, G20 leaders committed to "rationalize and phase out over the medium term inefficient fossil fuel subsidies that encourage wasteful consumption" (IEA et al., 2011). At their 2009 summit, the leaders of Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) countries also committed to the rationalisation and phase out of such fossil fuel subsidies over the medium term (APEC, 2009). However, the extent of fossil fuel subsidies in place remains substantial. In 2013, the global value of subsidies on all forms of fossil-fuel energy that officially lower end-user prices totalled approximately USD 548 billion (IEA, 2014b).

Subsidy reform could have both a direct and indirect impact on climate support, depending on how it is carried out. If all or part of the avoided cost of fossil fuel subsidies is earmarked for climate purposes, this could directly generate considerable levels of climate finance. The majority of fossil fuel subsidies are consumption subsidies in developing countries. Reforming such subsidies would free-up domestic and public funds, rather than international climate finance; hence the proposal is ranked as "high" for potential to mobilise financial resources, but "low" for potential to mobilise international climate finance. Subsidy reform can also have an indirect impact on climate support: by

³ However, it would allow some coal- and lignite-fired high efficiency combined heat and power (CHP) plants, coal- and lignite-fired plants fitted with carbon capture and storage (CCS) technologies, as well as those co-fired with biomass.

levelling the playing field between fossil and non-fossil fuels, it can increase the competitiveness of non-fossil sources. This can help to mobilise investment in such sources.

However, as it could be politically difficult to implement the proposal, on this criterion the proposal is ranked "medium/low". While evidence suggests that fossil-fuel subsidies tend to be regressive, poor and vulnerable groups need to be protected from prices rises resulting from subsidy reform (Whitley, 2013). Reforms therefore have to be implemented carefully. A number of analyses and research for the phase-out have been conducted in response to the G20 Leaders' invitations. For example, the IEA has made proposals for how this can be done step-by-step (Table 1) (IEA, 2014b).

The ease of monitoring and tracking fossil fuel subsidy reforms is assessed as "low". While the data needed may not be complex to produce, past experience with trying to understand and monitor such subsidies, and the willingness of countries to share this information internationally, could make the monitoring and tracking process difficult.

Table 1. Steps for implementing fossil fuel subsidy reforms

	Strategic planning		Capacity building and Institutional reform		Phased implementation		Outcome
0	Identify subsidies to be reformed Plan transition to free-market pricing and fiscal reform	0 0 0	Prepare provisional administered pricing mechanism Implement restructuring Create pricing and	0	Introduce administrative pricing Deregulate prices when competition becomes viable	0	Market determines price Taxes reflect externalities and revenue needs
0	Draw up sector reconstructing Consult all stakeholders	0	competition authorities Develop assistance programmes and create institutions to	0	Adjust taxes and remove non-price subsidies Implement targeted sectoral measures	0	Targeted social welfare and economic assistance
0	Raise public awareness by communicating plans	0	implement programmes Communicate progress	0	Evaluate outcomes Advertise achievements to increase support and counter resistance	0	Public acceptance of subsidy removal

Source: IEA, 2014b.

2.2.4 Tax on oil exports from developing to developed countries to be established

A tax levied on oil exports (suggested in paragraph 128.1b), not currently addressed within the UNFCCC process, could potentially mobilise climate finance. The Geneva text does not specify who the tax would be levied on, what the tax level would be, and whether or for whom (e.g. exporters, GCF) it would be earmarked. The analysis below is based on the understanding of Ecuador's Daly-Correa tax proposed to OPEC in 2001 (Alier, 2009). This proposal suggests that oil-exporting developing countries commit to raising the price of each barrel of oil by a certain percentage. The idea is to account for the negative environmental externalities caused by the oil industry and have the resulting funds reinvested toward climate change mitigation and adaptation. Hence, if the money were to be channelled as proposed by Ecuador, it would be earmarked for international climate finance; this could entail funds being destined to the GCF or potentially through another channel which would have to be agreed upon amongst Parties.

OECD statistics estimate that oil exports from non-OECD (excluding Russian Federation) to OECD countries in 2013 are 16.1 million barrels per day. At 2013 oil prices, applying a 3% or 5% tax per barrel, as proposed by Ecuador, would raise USD 19 billion and USD 32 billion respectively, all of which under Ecuador's proposal would be directed for international climate finance. These levels of mobilised climate finance rank as "medium/low" according to the criteria set for Table ES-1. To put this in context, total bilateral climate-related ODA reached USD 21.5 billion on average per year in

2010-12. However, the total amount of revenue that would be generated from such a tax is highly dependent on the price of oil, as well as on the tax rate, which is not currently specified in the Geneva negotiation text. Given the highly volatile nature of the oil market, the revenue from the tax would be subject to high fluctuations and would therefore not lead to predictable funding levels for climate finance. For example, the average oil price in the first quarter of 2015 was half the 2013 level, which would have a proportional impact on the level of revenue raised from such a tax.

The tax could either be collected by the exporting developing country or by the importing developed country. In the former case, it may be onerous to implement, as exporting countries would have to collect and the money generated from the tax to international climate finance mechanisms, rather than being used as domestic climate finance. If the tax is collected by the importing developed countries, they would need to separate out money paid to the exporting country for the purchase of crude oil, and the amount paid for the tax that would then have to be allocated to international climate finance. Implementation of such a system could also be complex. The ease of implementation is rated as "low" in both cases, whether it is paid by the exporting or importing countries.

Furthermore, the tax could also affect patterns of demand for oil. As oil consumption in OECD countries has been declining since 2005 and is expected to continue declining (IEA, 2014b), a tax on oil exported only to developed countries would become progressively less relevant. Moreover, as the tax would presumably not cover all developed country oil imports, it could negatively impact developing countries' competitiveness, should demand for oil shift towards countries that do not impose the tax on oil exports.

The proposal has the potential to increase levels of climate finance in the UNFCCC context if all oil exporters and importers – rather than those from a subset of countries – agreed to apply it, and to earmark revenues for international climate finance. As presented in the Geneva text, consensus on behalf of importing (developed) countries to face higher prices and exporting (developing) countries to lose price competitiveness compared to developed country sources is unlikely to be achieved. It may also be politically difficult for exporting countries to agree earmarking funds raised to international climate finance, rather than using this for their own needs. How the money would be collected and whether and how the funds could be tracked is uncertain, hence ranked as "low".

2.3 Current proposals - adaptation-specific

This section will examine proposals that focus on mobilising climate finance for adaptation (paragraph 116) within the finance section of the Geneva negotiation text.

2.3.1 Levies on market-based mechanisms

Paragraph 116.2 proposes the use of levies from "any market-based mechanisms" to be used for adaptation funding. There is precedent for this in the Kyoto Protocol, where the 2% "share of the proceeds" (SoP) on certified emission reductions (CERs) generated by Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) projects is earmarked for the Adaptation Fund.

Under the Adaptation Fund, total funding has been approximately USD 468 million as at 31 December 2014. Less than half of this (USD 190.8 million) was generated from SoP, with the rest being grants from donor governments (WBG, 2014). The funding from SoP has not generated significant amounts of finance, due to both high supply and lack of demand for CERs. Any new market mechanism established under the UNFCCC for the post-2020 period would therefore need to be widely used, for levies on market-based instruments to generate significantly increased levels of funding for adaptation. At the moment, demand for units from and market price of international market mechanisms under the Kyoto Protocol is low, and there is as yet no agreement on a "new market mechanism". For these reasons, the mobilisation potential of this proposal has been ranked as "low". However, the ease of implementation and monitoring are considered "high", because the proposal could build on existing mechanisms.

2.3.2 Financial risk management instruments

The proposal for financial risk management instruments to mobilise climate finance for adaptation (paragraph 116.3) falls under a paragraph calling for multilateral and/or bilateral financing for adaptation. It suggests a desire to ensure that financial risk management instruments be used for adaptation, but does not specify the types of instruments that are to be employed. Financial risk management instruments can be categorised into two types: managing investment risks for adaptation projects, including using risk mitigants and transaction enablers; and managing climate or weather risks for those financially vulnerable to such changes.

The terminology of risk mitigants and transaction enablers has been used in sustainable energy investment (OECD, 2015b), but could also be useful for adaptation-related investments. Public institutions such as multilateral development banks already provide risk coverage to mobilise private investment for climate related projects, including in adaptation. The World Bank Group, for example, provides risk mitigation instruments ranging from insurance policies and guarantees aimed at enhancing creditworthiness of projects, to contract-based instruments targeting the volatility of commodities and currencies (CPI, 2013b).

Risk mitigants are used to reduce or re-assign investment risks. This includes guarantees and insurance products, public cornerstone stakes and other types of credit enhancement. The instruments can cover risks which are new and currently not covered by financial actors. They could therefore enhance the mobilisation of financing sources for adaptation by increasing the attractiveness and acceptability of investments in adaptation for investors who would otherwise be averse to such risks. Transaction enablers are used to reduce the transaction costs associated with investment, and include securitisation and co-investment platforms. Examples of both types of instruments are provided in Table 2 below.

Table 2. Possible risk mitigants and transaction enablers for climate change adaptation finance

	Risk Mitigants	Transaction enablers			
Loan loss reserves	Capital or capital equivalents set- aside to offset potential losses and reduce risk of non-repayment.	Securitisation	Bundling small-scale projects or illiquid assets to transform them into a standardised and tradable asset or security.		
Insurance products/ Guarantees	Core credit enhancement tools that mitigate or reduce perceived or actual investment risks	Warehousing	Pooling of small-scale projects to create a bundled asset of attractive value.		
Political risk coverage/insu rance	Insurance against political conditions that result in a loss.	Co-investment platforms and consortiums	Direct investing through partnerships with other investors in order to reduce up front transaction costs.		
Project completion coverage	Guarantees project completion or fulfilment of a funded contract or obligation.	Standardisation of contracts and data collection, monitoring and evaluation	Promotion of standard contracts and templates for reporting, monitoring and evaluation in order to reduce transaction costs. Facilitates application of other tools, such as securitisation.		
Policy and regulatory risk coverage	Insurance covering legal and regulatory changes that may result in a loss. Related to sovereign risk products.				
Public investment funds	Seeding investment funds (by government) to attract outside sources of capital				

Source: OECD 2015b; Bachher, et al. 2012.

Regarding the management of weather or climate-related risks, risk transfer instruments have been used in sectors relevant to adaptation. The African Union's African Risk Capacity helps the Union's member countries in cases of natural disasters through its financial affiliate, the ARC Insurance Company Ltd. With the support of the ARC insurance pool, governments no longer need to keep contingency funds in the case of catastrophic events and can allocate resources where they are most needed (ARC, n.d.).

Another example is a project launched by Munich RE and Gesellschaft fur Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH to establish a risk transfer system for agriculture in Peru. The aim is to develop a legal, institutional and structural framework for the system to protect agricultural production against weather-related risks (Munich RE, 2014).

Financial management risk instruments relevant for adaptation exist, and insurance-related instruments are used widely as discussed above, all of which are important for enhancing resilience. However, it is difficult to estimate whether and how much these instruments have increased incremental finance for adaptation in developing countries, compared with the level without such instruments. As a result, the mobilisation potential of this proposal from the Geneva text is assessed as "uncertain". One reason for this is that value-at-risk is often difficult to determine for the assets against which insurance is being taken, and foregone losses can be difficult to trace. In the developing country context this is especially complex, as reinsurance markets have grown, but price discovery is difficult (i.e. limited price transparency) and transaction costs tend to be high (Collier et al., 2009; Singla and Sagar, 2012).

The ease of implementation of financial risk management instruments is rated as "medium" as some instruments already exist and have been introduced, though with varying degrees of difficulty

depending on the instrument used and on the specific context. Among the risk mitigation instruments offered by the World Bank Group, information on premiums for almost all products is accessible. However, it is difficult to estimate other costs, such as transaction and enforcement costs, because information is not fully available (CPI, 2013b). Therefore, the ease of monitoring is assessed as "low". It would be challenging to track and monitor how such instruments would mobilise climate finance for adaptation and how effective they would be.

2.4 Current proposals – political goals

Several proposals in the current Geneva text refer to scaling up the level of resources. These include specific suggestions relating to qualitative or quantitative targets without specific action points.

2.4.1 Scaling up climate finance to meet the goal of limiting the temperature rise to less than 2°C

One current proposal in paragraph 91 of the Geneva text (UNFCCC, 2015) is for climate finance "to be scaled up in order to provide the finance, access to technology and capacity building necessary to meet the goal of limiting the temperature increase to below [2][1.5]°C". It is not clear what exactly this text refers to regarding climate finance. In particular, the level to which climate finance would need to be scaled up would vary widely depending on whether this text is assumed to refer to incremental climate finance needs to be consistent with a 2°C pathway (e.g. estimated by the Global Commission on the Economy and Climate (GCEC) at USD 4 trillion for infrastructure over 2015-2030) or total climate finance needs (e.g. estimated at USD 94 trillion for infrastructure over the same time period). This complicates separating *climate* finance from other types of finance, though the scale of the mobilisation potential is high. No indication is given in the text how such scaling up is to be achieved. The legal and policy context within which such a proposal is made is likely to have a considerable influence on its effectiveness in mobilising climate finance. Policies that transform enabling environments will also be needed to ensure that sufficient climate finance is mobilised to reach levels consistent with a 2°C pathway (Kato, Ellis and Clapp, 2014a).

Efforts to monitor climate finance mobilised by developed countries are underway. Indeed, guidelines for reporting climate finance in developed country biennial reports focus on total public bilateral and multilateral climate finance. The guidelines also request reporting on private finance leveraged by bilateral flows "to the extent possible" but do not require this information, or data on finance leveraged by multilateral flows: (UNFCCC, 2011); Caruso and Ellis (2013) provide a more detailed discussion of which sources are included and excluded from current reporting guidelines. Without further information on what such a proposal would entail, it is difficult to assess how it could mobilise climate finance, whether it would effectively lead to scaling-up of finance, and whether it would fill a gap that the UNFCCC currently does not address.

2.4.2 Deliver adequate and predictable funding for adaptation

A proposal outlined in paragraph 82.1 of the Geneva text (UNFCCC, 2015) is that the "mobilisation and provision of finance" is to "deliver adequate and predictable funding for adaptation". The importance of "predictability" is recognised in official development assistance (ODA), and is currently monitored as part of effective development co-operation commitments (OECD/UNDP, 2014). A large proportion of adaptation finance is composed of Official Development Assistance (ODA) in the form of grants. The unpredictability of development assistance funding has repeatedly been mentioned by partner countries as an obstacle to more effective aid use (e.g. see OECD, 2014c). It is not clear whether the proposal refers to total or incremental adaptation finance and it is difficult to know what "adequate" funding means in concrete financial terms. The success of any such proposal as currently worded will be influenced by the legal nature of the document in which it is contained.

The scale of resources needed for adaptation finance in developing countries is significant, while estimates of the extent of such needs vary widely, e.g. between USD 70-100 billion per year (IPCC,

2014a) or between USD 250-500 billion per year (e.g. UNEP, 2014). These estimates are likely to overlap to some extent with the estimates for infrastructure investment and are very sensitive to what is defined as adaptation. Higher estimates also reflect the lack of adaptive capacity to *current* climate variability in many developing countries (UNEP, 2014; Agrawala and Frankenhauser, 2008). It is also difficult to estimate the costs of an uncertain but very high impact event materialising by the end of the century (e.g. two metres of sea-level rise).

While the mobilisation potential is high, delivering on this proposal could be challenging for several reasons. In particular, there is no agreed definition of what an adaptation activity is, as this will vary from site to site. To date, whether or not an activity relates to climate change adaptation is generally assessed according to the intention of the project, rather than its likely outcome (MDB Joint Reporting, 2011; OECD DAC Statistics, 2015c).

The proposal is also challenging due to its reference to adequacy. The question "adequate for what?" is difficult to answer. It is not possible to robustly calculate the additional costs of climate change. It is also difficult to separate funding needs for adaptation related to specific climate change impacts, from funding needs for adaptation due to socio-economic or other developments within a country. For example, funding for the Sustainable Development Goals would also be beneficial for adaptation. These are some factors behind the large range in estimates of financial needs for adaptation (UNEP, 2014).

Some Parties have suggested that "adequate" support for adaptation be equated with mitigationrelated temperature scenarios (e.g., African Group submission, 31 May 2014). While a link can be made between emissions levels, temperature rises, and climate impacts, this is technically challenging. It would be difficult to deliver on this proposal, because even if global climate trends were known with certainty, there is doubt regarding the exact nature and extent of climate change at national and sub-national levels (IPCC, 2014a; 2014b). For example, there is considerable uncertainty regarding the levels of temperature and precipitation extremes, which can have a significant effect on agricultural production. Such uncertainties in climate impacts lead to insecurities in how to address them most efficiently, and therefore hesitation in estimating current and future financial needs to address them. However, immediate needs for adaptation finance are likely to be unaffected by emissions trajectories until the middle of the century (Agrawala et al., 2010), though large investments, such as sea-rise defences for coastal cities, could be different depending on these emissions pathways. Finally, while financial needs for adaptation are related to the environmental impacts of climate change, they are also influenced by socio-economic changes within a country (population growth, location of population and assets in climate-vulnerable areas). Adaptation finance needs are therefore influenced by domestic policies within a country (e.g. construction/zoning requirements in low-lying and coastal areas). For a given level of climate change impacts, costs can therefore vary significantly depending on socio-economic factors. (see Helgeson and Ellis, 2015).

Efforts to monitor and track financial flows are complicated by the way adaptation measures are developed and implemented. Adaptation activities are more effective when mainstreamed into sectoral and national strategies (UNEP-UNDP, 2011). This may explain why the majority of adaptation-related aid is currently a significant (but not principal) aim of adaptation-related projects (OECD, 2014d). Thus, disentangling the financial needs of different components of an integrated strategy is not straightforward.

However, this integration also makes it difficult for individual countries to have a clear bottom-up view of their needs for adaptation finance. For example, of the 10 BURs submitted to the UNFCCC by mid-January 2015, only South Africa's provided a quantified indication of adaptation needs in monetary terms (DEA, 2014), though only for a subset of individual projects. Other BUR, such as Tunisia, outlined sectoral investment needs, but did not distinguish how much of this investment was needed from international sources of climate finance, nor how much was specifically adaptation-related (SDD, 2014).

It would thus appear to be difficult to quantify and implement this proposal. This is because of the uncertainties in what country-specific climate impacts are (now and in the future), the significant influence of non-climate drivers (socio-economic changes) on adaptation costs, and the difficulty in identifying, disentangling and monetising adaptation-specific actions. The provision of sufficient, predictable financial resources for adaptation remains extremely important. However, it is unclear if or how predictability in the global level of support for adaptation would translate to predictability at the national or sub-national level. The text proposal could be taken as a means to signal the importance of predictability, rather than an attempt at calculating an "adequate" level of financial resources.

2.4.3 Short-term collective quantified goal (post-2020) and provision of finance to be based on a floor of USD 100 billion per year

Some of the proposals in the Geneva text (paragraphs 92, 98, 101) call for determining "a short-term collective quantified goal that defines the expected, scaled-up climate finance level for the post-2020 period ... in order to enhance the predictability of the provision of climate finance, indicating specific levels of public sources to be provided." (UNFCCC, 2015). This wording implies that it is referring to total levels of mobilised climate finance, i.e. public sources and the non-public sources of finance they trigger (rather than e.g. incremental and/or additional climate finance), presumably from developed countries.

The same paragraphs of the Geneva text suggest "the provision of finance to be based on a floor of USD 100 billion per year" or "a short-term collective quantified goal... shall be determined... on the basis of a floor of USD 100 billion per year". If this level were to be achieved, the mobilisation potential of the proposals would be high. The proposal builds on the commitment that developed countries made at COP16 in 2010 to jointly mobilise USD 100 billion per year by 2020 to address the needs of developing countries (UNFCCC, 2010b). However, there is no certainty on what climate finance comprises (Clapp et *al.*, 2012). It is therefore currently difficult to assess how progress towards such quantified commitments should be assessed. Furthermore, despite the commitments undertaken, there is a lack of data needed for tracking progress and assessing their current impact on climate finance (Jachnik, Caruso and Srivastava, 2015).

In terms of short-term quantified goals for climate finance, developed countries do have experience. The "Fast Start Finance" (FSF) commitment (USD 30 billion of new and additional resources by developed countries over 2010-2012) pledged at COP15 and formalised at COP16 is an example of such a collective goal (UNFCCC, 2010a). While the FSF commitment involves only public finance, there are several technical-level lessons that can be drawn from such experience (e.g. UNFCCC, 2013a; ODI et al., 2013). These include lessons about the level of funding, as well as on the prospects for scaling up. Regarding levels of FSF, the fact of having a short-term target raised the political profile of such expenditure. Countries have subsequently reported that they exceeded their FSF commitments (UNFCCC, 2013a; ODI et al., 2013). However, different countries' reports are not comparable, as they use different definitions of climate finance (e.g. most countries counting only public sources, but some including private; Minami, 2014), as well as of "new and additional".

In terms of effectiveness, some donor FSF countries have indicated that there were sometimes delays to disbursing climate finance, in part caused by time needed to establish a project pipeline (McDougall, 2013), or to ensure that programmes proposed were in line with country priorities (Talley, 2013). This means that a focus on ensuring that financial outflows are made by a specific date may lead to trade-offs in the effectiveness of such disbursements (e.g. by focusing them on standalone projects rather than integrated programmes aligned with country priorities). In terms of scaling up, the importance of domestic enabling environments in encouraging increased investment in general – as well as for climate-friendly investments in particular – is clear (see e.g. Kato, Ellis and Clapp, 2014; Haščič et al., 2015; OECD, 2015b). However, the difficulty of encouraging and scaling up private investment, particularly in adaptation-related actions, is also clear (Minami, 2014; Kato et al., 2014b). Some donors have also highlighted the (political) difficulty for individual countries in

agreeing a collective climate finance goal, without an agreed burden-sharing arrangement in place (e.g. Perez, 2013).

Monitoring and tracking progress towards any future quantified climate finance goal is likely to be subject to uncertainties and difficulties, both in terms of tracking public and other sources. These difficulties will persist even if the international community agrees on the definition of which activity types count as climate finance. It is not always straightforward to distinguish between public and private sources of climate finance. This is particularly true where the source of climate finance has a mixed public-private ownership, where the disbursing entity has blended public and private funds (e.g. by issuing green bonds), or where there is not a direct link between the disbursing entity (e.g. a fund) and a specific climate activity (see Caruso and Jachnik, 2014 for a detailed discussion). In addition, there are considerable gaps in data availability for private climate finance, which complicates any assessment of progress towards a quantified goal (see e.g. Jachnik, Caruso and Srivastava, 2015).

The proposal focuses on climate finance <u>outflows/provision</u> (presumably from developed countries, though it could feasibly include other countries that currently provide climate finance or might wish to in the future) rather than climate finance <u>inflows</u> to developing countries. Thus the proposal is not currently drafted in such a way as to fulfil specific funding gaps or gaps in coverage of countries or sectors, nor to focus on ensuring the effectiveness of the climate finance outflows.

2.4.4 Advantages and disadvantages of different types of climate finance goals

As discussed above, the Geneva text proposes a variety of quantified and non-quantified climate finance support goals. Countries have previous experience in the UNFCCC context with such goals which has highlighted the benefits and challenges for both types of goals, summarised in the table below.

Table 3. Summary advantages and disadvantages of different types of climate finance goals

Type of climate finance goal (and section in which this is discussed)	Advantages	Disadvantages
Quantified (individual)	Provides a concrete goal, with high visibility. Raises the political profile of such expenditure domestically.	No indication of how effectively money is used. Difficult to quantify in comparable manner May focus on the short-term, because of budget and planning cycles. Requirements to disburse by specific date can lead to trade-offs in effectiveness.
Quantified (collective) (Section 2.4.3)	Provides an indication of total climate finance provision or mobilisation (assuming that all Parties subsequently ratify any agreement). Raises political profile.	No indication of how effectively money is used. Without an agreed burden-sharing provision, agreeing to a collective goal increases the potential risk for country A if country B subsequently does not ratify or withdraws.
Long-term (quantified and non- quantified) (global) (Section 2.4.1)	Provides indication of climate finance provision on a time-frame that provides certainty for long-term policy decisions.	Not possible for several donor countries to commit to, given short-term nature of public budgets
Predictable (Sections 2.4.2 and 2.4.3)	Provides an indication of total provision (assuming all Parties agreeing subsequently ratify).	Countries currently struggling to meet this requirement individually as part of broader development co-operation efforts (providing some visibility on three- to five-year cycles). Predictability at a global level does not provide predictability at the country or sector level.
Focused on needs (Section 2.4.2)	Would lead to a massive scaling up of climate finance flows. Would require countries seeking support to assess needs in a holistic and concrete manner.	The concept of "needs" is not easy to define or quantify, e.g. to disentangle adaptation needs caused by climate change from those caused by socioeconomic changes. Not consistent with UNFCCC Article 4.3 commitment for developed countries to provide "agreed full incremental cost of implementing measures [in developing countries]".

3. Technical assessment of specific suggestions: technology development and transfer

The current textual proposals on technology development and transfer (UNFCCC, 2015) are rather limited and therefore difficult to assess concretely. This section briefly describes selected proposals and assesses them according to several criteria, namely whether the proposals could lead to greater levels of technology development and transfer, do so effectively and achieve their stated aims. Their likelihood of meeting stated aims is largely based on whether proposals seem implementable or not,

both practically and politically, and past experience with similar processes or institutions. Other criteria include whether the proposals can be monitored; and whether they tackle issues currently being addressed under the UNFCCC or not. This assessment involves looking at experience with technology development and transfer, and other multilateral processes currently discussing these issues. In some cases a specific issue may not be not currently addressed as part of the UNFCCC, such as a global goal related to technology development and transfer, but other intergovernmental processes may be attempting to do so.

It is difficult to assess most of the current technology-related proposals in more than a superficial manner. First, there are not many concrete proposals; most tend to be general or their meaning unclear, and several have not garnered broad support across countries in the past. Second, because understanding how a given action might work to increase the development, diffusion and transfer of climate-relevant technologies is difficult. The options presented in the "General" section of the Geneva text (paragraph 130) are, as stated, general statements of support and encouragement for continued enhancement of technology development and transfer, while paragraph 133 focuses on institutional arrangements; neither of these will be assessed here.

Paragraph 131 is a placeholder for a "framework for scaling up technology development and transfer". This brief proposal is not specific enough to assess in detail, and appears to mimic the objectives of the current Technology Mechanism under the UNFCCC, operational since 2012. In addition, the UN General Assembly is considering "arrangements for a facilitation mechanism" to promote development, transfer and dissemination of environmentally sound technologies. A series of structured dialogues on the topic have taken place. These resulted in work to improve co-ordination and mapping of existing mechanisms; views still differ on whether and how new institutional capabilities should develop (UNGA, 2014). Technologies for climate change mitigation and adaptation fall squarely in the category of environmentally-sound technologies, making these discussions highly relevant. Any outcomes under this process would benefit climate-relevant technology processes and could be fully utilised.

3.1 Definitions and context

Within the proposals in the Geneva text, various processes and outcomes are mentioned, the main one being "technology development and transfer". This covers a potentially broad range of activity, included in the IPCC's definition of technology transfer as:

....a broad set of processes covering the flows of know-how, experience and equipment for mitigating and adapting to climate change amongst different stakeholders such as governments, private sector entities, financial institutions, non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and research/education institutions... the broad and inclusive term "transfer" encompasses diffusion of technologies and technology cooperation across and within countries. It covers technology transfer processes between developed countries, developing countries, and countries with economies in transition. It comprises the process of learning to understand, utilize and replicate the technology, including the capacity to choose and adapt to local conditions and integrate it with indigenous technologies. (IPCC, 2000).

The proposals also refer to "barriers" to accessing technology and to technology development and transfer. These can occur at different stages in the process of technology transfer, and tend to vary according to the specific context of a given sector and country. Examples of barriers include: lack of information, insufficient human capabilities, political and economic barriers (e.g. high transaction costs, lack of capital, trade and policy barriers), business limitations (e.g. risk aversion), and institutional limitations (e.g. lack of legal protections, weak environmental codes and standards) (IPCC, 2000). As part of the process for assessing technology needs and developing project proposals, countries undertaking technology needs assessments (TNAs) under the UNFCCC identify and analyse

barriers relevant for their technology development and transfer needs (Boldt et al., 2012; UNFCCC, 2013a).

Most of the proposals assessed are directed to "contributors" of technology, i.e. countries or institutions that transfer technologies or fund access to technology. However, some of them are also directed at "recipients", notably regarding technology needs assessments. Overall, technology development is an area where separating "contributors" and "recipients" is not always straightforward or effective, as will be discussed in Section 3.5. The private sector is not explicitly mentioned in the proposals, though globally most technology development and diffusion occurs by private rather than government actors. Several of the proposals might contribute to enhanced technology development and transfer, though they may be limited to actions governments can take directly, and their effectiveness relies to a great extent on processes outside the UNFCCC. This would include trade and investment frameworks, for example. As such, if only included within the UNFCCC, the potential these proposals contain for mobilising greater technology development and transfer may not be fully realised.

3.2 A global goal on enhanced technology development and transfer

Paragraph 129 calls for a "global goal on technology development and transfer" to meet technology needs associated with an emissions pathway consistent with meeting a temperature goal (1.5°C or 2°C), as well as "considerably improving" the adaptation capacity of developing countries. The "commitments" listed as part of this technology goal are not global or universal, but apply only to developed countries. This is somewhat restrictive, given the current, and growing, role of several developing countries as environmental technology producers. The way the commitment is worded would require either very close co-operation with the private sector ("develop a list of ready-to-transfer technologies"), which is not mentioned by name, or the transfer of only publicly funded and owned technologies. Focusing on technologies that developed countries can transfer suggests technology "contributors" will make these decisions, which may not be sufficiently demand-driven or country-specific for "recipient" countries.

It would be technically challenging to robustly link a future temperature goal with current support needs, including for specific technology needs for adaptation, as discussed in section 2.4.2 (related to quantifying needs for adaptation support). However, there are technology-based mitigation scenarios for emissions pathways consistent with a temperature goal. For example, the IEA's Energy Technology Perspectives (IEA, 2014c) models different energy technology scenarios to 2050, consistent with staying below 2°C warming by the end of the century. These scenarios might be helpful in mobilising additional investments in technology development and deployment, by channelling resource towards high priority technologies, though much of this currently occurs through commercial channels (OECD, 2010). The largest technology "wedges" contributing to emissions reductions to 2050 comprise end-use energy efficiency and renewable energy, followed by carbon capture and storage (CCS). Some technologies are mature and commercialised (e.g. energy efficiency, certain renewable energy technologies), though they face various deployment challenges (IEA, 2014d). Some renewable energy technologies will require significant cost reductions (offshore wind, solar thermal electricity), or further technological advancements (advanced biofuels, enhanced geothermal) (IEA, 2014e) in order to be deployed more broadly. In contrast, CCS is a technology that lags behind in terms of demonstration and deployment, and requires public funding and support (IEA, 2014c). However, if support for technology development and transfer is to meet the needs of developing countries, focusing on technologies identified using global emissions scenarios may not always be nationally appropriate or aligned with these needs. There is no global assessment of technology needs for adaptation, as these tend to be country specific; however, the largest gaps identified at national-level appear to be in the agriculture and water sectors (UNEP, 2014).

The idea of a "global goal" related to technology would be a new feature of the UNFCCC, although it already exists in current discussions of the post-2015 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Under the current draft proposal for SDGs, Goal 17, "Strengthen the means of implementation and revitalise

the global partnership for sustainable development", includes three technology-specific goals. One relates to enhancing co-operation, the second is specifically aimed at environmentally-sound technologies for developing countries (which would include climate-relevant technologies). The third refers to the creation of new institutions by 2017: a Technology Bank and a Science, Technology and Innovation (STI) capacity-building mechanism for least-developed countries⁴. Such goals could have a positive impact on climate-relevant technology development and transfer, since the challenges and barriers impeding these processes are broadly applicable and not necessarily specific to climate change (OECD, 2010; Dechezleprêtre, Glachant and Ménière, 2013).

Being able to monitor and measure progress towards these goals is more difficult, however. Current discussions on indicators for the SDGs list technology sharing and diffusion as a complementary national indicator, but one that remains to be developed (SDSN, 2015). There are few indicators for tracking technology development, though investment in relevant research, development and deployment (RD&D) is one way. The IEA tracks this data for clean energy technologies, and assesses this against investment rates needed to meet a 2°C scenario. It also tracks development and deployment of key technologies at a global level compared to its modelled 2°C scenario pathway (Hood and Briner, 2014). Empirical evidence of innovation and technology transfer tends to focus on patent data (Latif, 2015), while other important factors are not yet well understood or even captured. These include other types of intellectual property such as copyright and trade secrets, barriers to international trade and foreign direct investment, as well as tacit knowledge (Dechezleprêtre, Glachant and Ménière, 2013).

Ideas for goals that might channel resources towards climate-relevant technologies have been put forward; they tend to be more specific, in order to be measurable. For example, such goals could take the form of targets for governments to increase public funding for domestic and international climate-relevant RD&D, by a percentage or specific volume. This type of spending generally focuses on early stage technology research. On the other end of the technology development spectrum, a global goal could be to increase diffusion rates for climate-relevant technologies (higher level of penetration in shorter number of years), or to bring down the costs of certain technologies to a particular level (Morgan, Dagnet and Tirpak, 2014)⁵. There is existing work to guide goal-setting at a global level. For example, global energy technology roadmaps developed by the IEA for specific technologies also include estimated cost reductions and cost ranges required for the achievement of a given rate of technology deployment.

A global goal could simply take the form of a financial goal, either via a specified amount of money dedicated to climate-relevant technology RD&D and/or acquisition in different countries, or a share of climate finance flows to be allocated towards such activities. This type of goal would have the same advantages and disadvantages as other quantified finance targets (see section 2.4). It could require governments to take measures that stimulate greater private investment in climate-relevant RD&D, and thus affect private flows indirectly. Unless adopted by private actors as well, a financial goal could be *directly* implemented only by national governments and affect only public flows with some certainty. This could potentially limit its impact, particularly in the area of technology transfer and acquisition. There are also some risks with pre-determining what climate finance flows must be used for. Doing so may not be sufficiently demand driven; a given country may prefer funds to be used for other purposes than technology acquisition, and potentially have access to fewer funds as a result. In addition, if a share of global flows is earmarked for technology, this may lead to a more uneven geographic balance, with funds disproportionately flowing to countries with specific technology needs. A financial goal could also take the form of dedicated funding within the Green Climate Fund (GCF) for the Technology Mechanism (ibid.), which may have the advantage of better integrating finance for technology, as needed, within broader financing mechanisms.

4 See the current proposed goals at https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/focussdgs.html

⁵ For example, the US Department of Energy's SunShot Initiative specifically aims to reduce the cost of electricity generated by solar energy systems to USD 0.06 per kilowatt-hour (kWh).

The idea of a technology goal could also be seen as a general objective calling for technology-related commitments by countries. These could be commitments to undertake specific actions, in line with a global objective of enhancing climate-relevant technology development and transfer. Individual country commitments may well vary, but these could be measurable. Morgan, Dagnet and Tirpak (2014) suggest global goals be combined with, for example, nationally determined diffusion rates for specific technologies, national targets for government spending on RD&D, and national policies for enabling environments (e.g. tax credits that encourage industry to undertake research). Hood, Briner and Rocha (2014) give examples of short- to medium-term technology goals, which can contribute to longer-term technological transformations. For example, a commitment to demonstrate and deploy specific technologies, quantified investments in certain types of RD&D, increasing the volume of "green" patents or low-carbon technology exports, or implementing technology standards. Countries could focus on a set of technologies to prioritise for development or accelerated deployment in the medium-term, that fall within longer term decarbonisation pathways (IEA, 2015). These commitments could also take the form of country-specific technology roadmaps, potentially supported via the Technology Mechanism or GCF. The IEA has worked with countries to produce both country- and technology-specific roadmaps: one for wind energy in China, and one for low-carbon technologies in the cement industry in India.⁶

One challenge for implementing technology-specific goals and objectives is that climate-related technologies may be difficult to classify as being purely climate related. This is true particularly for those technologies that lead to improved resource efficiency – which therefore have economic as well as environmental benefits. Technologies for adaptation to climate change are multi-dimensional and difficult to define purely in adaptation terms. It is difficult to distinguish adaptation technologies from adaptation measures, and these are best not treated separately (UNEP, 2014). This also makes assessment and quantification of their transfer, deployment and diffusion complicated (ibid.). Even within broader discussions of environmentally-related technology development and transfer, such as those on a Technology Facilitation Platform for environmentally-sound technologies, being able to define "technology" and technology areas is proving challenging. A global goal would be a new feature within the UNFCCC framework. This could potentially focus the efforts of a large number of countries on technologies we know are important for medium- to long-term GHG mitigation globally, such as energy technologies tracked by the IEA. It could arguably lead to even more technology development and deployment if implemented in the form of national-level targets and actions. This potential is mitigated by the narrow range of technologies for which global assessments are available, the limited applicability to adaptation technologies, and the difficulty in isolating climate-relevant technologies. It is therefore ranked as "medium" in the summary table ES-2 in terms of its potential to increase technology development and transfer).

In practical terms, introduction of a global technology goal in the UNFCCC is unlikely to lead to vast increases in technology deployment. This is because a large swathe of policies and regulations unrelated to climate policy will have a strong impact on this potential. As currently worded, the text also limits actions to developed countries, which is an inaccurate reflection of current technological realities, as well as the capacities of many developing countries and their potential for various types of innovation (Ockwell and Byrne, 2015). As such, the likelihood of the goal meeting its aim is considered "low", but could be "medium" if a varied set of actions were implemented at the national level in most countries, not just developed ones. Monitoring issues, described above, would mean a score of "low" given current proxies for technology transfer, and of "medium" for technology development.

3.3 Addressing barriers to technology development and transfer

The bulk of proposals for technology commitments are included in paragraph 132 (UNFCCC, 2015). Paragraphs 132.1 and 132.2 remain relatively general, though they emphasise the issue of addressing

_

⁶ A full list of all IEA technology roadmaps are available at www.iea.org/roadmaps/.

various barriers to accessing, developing, absorbing and transferring technologies. Strengthening enabling environments and tackling barriers to technology development, diffusion and transfer are both of capital importance; doing so is part of the Technology Executive Committee (TEC) and Climate Technology Centre and Network (CTCN) mandates and work programmes (FCCC/CP/2010/7/Add.1), so this area is currently being addressed within the UNFCCC Technology Mechanism⁷. The CTCN also provides technical support to countries requesting it⁸. The Global Environment Facility (GEF) also supports various technology-related initiatives; several pilot finance and technology centres, mechanisms and networks have recently been implemented, many of them at the regional level (UNFCCC, 2014a). Proposals on addressing barriers, as well as those on strengthening TNAs (Section 3.4), highlight an area where it is challenging to separate enhancing technology development and transfer from enhancing capacity development, particularly where the Geneva negotiating text refers to enhancing "endogenous capacities and technologies" of developing countries. Depending on the level of capacity development needed, and for what purposes, such activities might be classified as either support for capacity building or technology.

A commitment to addressing barriers to technology development and diffusion would require strengthening domestic enabling environments in all countries, though the kinds of barriers and measures taken would vary according to national context. An important source of technology transfer is foreign direct investment and trade flows, though technology spillovers are more likely if country absorptive capacity is higher (Popp, 2009). The flow of clean technologies is greater when environmental policies in recipient countries provide incentives to adopt clean technology (ibid.); improving domestic absorptive capacities and enabling environments is therefore essential. This is closely linked to capacity building more generally, an area addressed separately in the current Geneva text. Given the types of common barriers listed in section 3.1, some capacity building may be climate-technology specific (for example, electricity grid management and transparent tariffs for renewable energy deployment), while others may be more generic (for example, improving business framework conditions). Work undertaken under the technology mechanism could usefully focus on climate technology-related barriers.

Indicators would also be needed to assess whether barriers were being removed, and capacities for technology development and absorption strengthened. Some of these could be related to broader capacity development, regulatory or economic indicators. This includes customs procedures, general intellectual property legislation and enforcement, and economic and regulatory policy frameworks for the environment (Halonen, 2008). Countries could also use technology development indicators outlined in the previous section, or more process indicators, such as implementation of relevant plans and guidelines, or changes to investment patterns (Hood, Briner and Rocha, 2014). Other relevant SDGs also have indicators to measure improvements in enabling environments that could positively impact technology development and transfer (SDSN, 2015).

Proposals for creating a Technology Bank and STI capacity-building mechanism for LDCs in order to facilitate technology development and transfer also aim to address barriers. This activity would also need indicators, which have not yet been developed (SDSN, 2015). The Technology Bank is meant to address broader science, technology and innovation related capacity gaps experienced by LDCs. It

⁻

⁷ The TEC work programme for 2014-15 is available at http://unfccc.int/ttclear/misc_/StaticFiles/gnwoerk_static/TEC_infobox_2/0bde16ddda98494d86f0e4ed105b062 9/50099ad819ac40a98d336a23c06a4257.pdf .

⁸ Examples can be found at www.unep.org/climatechange/ctcn/Services/Technicalassitance/tabid/771786/language/en-US/Default.aspx.

⁹ For example, availability and implementation of a transparent and detailed deep decarbonisation strategy; share of population with access to reliable electricity; revenues allocated to sustainable development; researchers and technicians in R&D.

could usefully be used to address barriers to climate-relevant technology development and transfer, if these are prioritised by the LDCs that can access the Technology Bank. 10

Paragraph 132.4 contains text similar to 132.1 and 132.2, with an emphasis on promoting access to and deployment of technology. It then includes options which specify actions taken in relation to intellectual property rights (IPRs). These include providing financial resources to address the barriers caused by them, establishing an IPR "mechanism" that would facilitate access and deployment, and a list of specific measures that could be used to facilitate access to technologies protected by IPRs (e.g. patent pools, preferential rates, joint licensing, collaborative research and development). While some of these options may be appropriate in certain cases, they may not be applicable to all countries. Existing evidence, which mostly uses patent data, finds that IPRs are generally not a clear barrier to technology transfer; where they are, their impact varies by technology and context, and would need to be addressed case-by-case (Latif, 2015; TEC, 2013a). Developing countries have identified a range of barriers to accessing priority technologies, among which IPRs are not dominant (UNFCCC, 2013a). Proposals for a LDC Technology Bank include addressing IPR issues through facilitative licencing, but also through helping inventors from LDCs obtain IPR protection (UNGA, 2013).

Addressing barriers to technology development and transfer would potentially increase the volume and quality of technology development, deployment and transfer. These barriers vary greatly by country and by technology, and the proposals contained in the Geneva draft negotiating text are either too vague or too specific (e.g. mentioning only IPR). As such, the potential of this proposal is assessed as "medium" in the summary table (Table ES-2). The implementation of measures to address barriers, along with their outcomes, could also be monitored, though these would need to be specific to the different measures taken at national level. There would also potentially be a time-lag between implementation of actions to address barriers, and measurable outcomes such as product innovation, patents or investments. Monitoring would therefore require considerable capacity, and is also assessed as "medium". In terms of effectiveness, the proposal is rated as "low"; effectively addressing the wide range of barriers to technology development and transfer would fall outside the "climate" domain, and require significant coordination within governments and between relevant international organisations.

3.4 Technology needs assessments

Paragraph 132.5 calls for developing countries to assess their technology needs with the aim of developing project proposals; the outcomes of any assessment are to be effectively implemented, with the support of developed country parties. To this end, the Geneva text specifies various measures relating to the process of technology needs assessment (TNA), in terms of strengthening these, improving capacity to conduct them, and enhancing their implementation. It also calls for linking them to implementable or bankable projects, as well as to other processes under the Convention, such as nationally appropriate mitigation actions (NAMAs) and national adaptation plans (NAPs). All these measures are clearly important and useful; they are in fact an explicit part of the TEC and CTCN's mandate, and part of the TEC's work plan. Strengthening the TNA process, enhancing implementation of outcomes from the process, and linking TNAs to other Convention processes are ongoing activities within the UNFCCC.

Specifically aligning TNAs more closely with bankable projects, or improving these to result in implementable projects, are not currently specified in the TEC work programme. This emphasis is welcome; while TNAs have been a valuable enabling activity, and have included more specific project ideas and technology action plans (TAPs) since 2009, the number of sound project proposals as reported in TNAs remains small (TEC, 2013b). This underscores the difficulty of developing concrete and bankable project proposals (Sill, 2013). Work on linking project ideas and TAPs with other processes such as NAMAs and NAPs within the technology mechanism is intended to further

_

¹⁰ For more on how the Technology Bank might be conceived, see UNGA (2013). The Technology Bank is understood to be a time-bound mechanism, which would conclude once countries "graduate" out of LDC status (UNGA, 2014).

support their implementation. The technology mechanism appears to be emphasising better operationalisation and implementation of country TNAs, including through collaborating with the financial mechanism. This is a welcome development, and crucial to enhanced action within countries.

To date, therefore, the impact of TNAs on enhancing the development and transfer of technologies has been limited. Should the TNA exercise be more focused on developing bankable projects that are more clearly linked to financing and broader policy processes, it might play a greater role in enhancing enabling environments and lead to the implementation of concrete projects. Given the limited scope of TNAs, their potential to mobilise greater development of and access to technology could be considered "medium" (See summary table ES-2). The slow implementation of TNAs, and their slow evolution towards greater specificity, also suggests the likelihood that they would effectively lead to such mobilisation would remain "low". It is easy to monitor whether they have taken place; monitoring of their outcomes could occur in terms of progress with specific projects stemming from TNAs and TAPs. However, it is not clear what the role of the 2015 agreement should be in this regard, given the technology mechanism is meant to address current and evolving technology needs.

One area to emphasise is the importance of embedding any assessment of technology needs within broader, coherent mitigation and adaptation strategies (TEC, 2014). A technology action plan that focuses on accessing and implementing actions for individual technologies risks ignoring opportunities for meeting development objectives and strengthening innovation. The 2015 agreement could emphasise and enhance this role within the mandates of the technology mechanism bodies. However, this would be more appropriate in a COP decision, so as not to preclude evolving developing country needs and technological developments over the course of the agreement's lifetime.

3.5 Global collaboration on RD&D

Finally, paragraph 132.6 specifies action in the form of global collaboration on technology research, development and demonstration (RD&D). It first calls for provision of support from developed to developing country parties for the RD&D of technologies, and goes on to call for a global collaborative programme or global participative collaboration on RD&D. The IEA (2013; 2015) expects multilateral technology collaboration to play an important role in transitioning to low-carbon energy systems. The OECD (2013) has found a positive correlation between international scientific collaboration and cross-border patent applications. Furthermore, deployment, not just RD&D, will be essential. For both these processes, domestic innovation and absorption capacities will need to be improved across countries. The text does not mention the private sector, though public-private partnerships for RD&D have long been effectively used in science and technology (OECD, 1998). In addition, successful public-private partnerships can also help with the diffusion of technologies, including adapting them to local conditions (Forsyth, 2005).

The paragraph includes reference to global collaboration, references to a technology transfer mechanism for developing countries, and also includes references to specific groups of countries that would provide "financial and intellectual support". RD&D and innovation activities are currently concentrated in Annex I countries (using patent data as evidence). However, there is also significant activity in non-Annex I countries, such as South Korea, China and Brazil. In addition, more non-Annex I countries are also important technology trade and research partners, in the area of clean energy technologies for example (OECD, 2010; Latif, 2015). Corvaglia (2013) indicates that "an increasing number of developing countries are leading sources of climate-related technologies, diffusing them to other developing countries through trade and investment flows". It appears somewhat limiting to specify that "intellectual support" (which is rather ill-defined) be exclusively from developed to developing countries. As expressed in the preparatory process background paper for the Third International Conference on Financing for Development, "the view that technology is developed in the North and simply transferred to the South is misleading" (UNDESA, 2014).

While an explicit global collaborative programme would be a new feature within the UNFCCC, a range of "global collaborative programmes on the research, development and demonstration of technologies" currently exist, and many involve the participation of both developed and developing countries. Barnsley and Ahn (2014) found developing country participation in multilateral collaborative initiatives for low-carbon energy technologies has been increasing. However, they also point out that most initiatives are not established with global membership in mind. There are also significant bilateral collaborations on climate-relevant technologies, notably between the United States and China, and the United States and India (Lewis, 2014; Basu, Ghatikar and Bansal, 2014). The EU's Horizon 2020 research programme has a high degree of international collaboration with those outside the EU; it also provides funds to support participation from developing countries¹¹. One proposal in the Geneva text calls for special intellectual property right modalities for global participative collaboration. Joint or collaborative RD&D activities generally specify intellectual property provisions, as is the case under the US-China Clean Energy Research Center (Lewis, 2014). It is likely any future climate-related collaboration would do the same. Most international cooperation for environmentally-related technologies happens at the diffusion level, where there is room for greater co-ordination, rather than on upstream R&D (UNGA, 2014).

One example of a centrally managed global R&D programme is the CGIAR, a global agricultural research partnership supported by the CGIAR Fund, a multi-donor trust fund administered by the World Bank. ¹² The research carried out by CGIAR centres has had significant impact in the past on increasing agricultural productivity, primarily through crop genetic improvement research on a limited set of crops ¹³. CGIAR has also undertaken successful research in crop management techniques (e.g. biological pest control) and zero-tillage. While the CGIAR focuses on research with a global impact, which is the driving force behind its establishment, some activities have different impact across regions; their benefits tend to be more geographically specific with less opportunity for geographic spillover (Pingali and Kelley, 2007). The diffusion aspect of CGIAR's research also remains a challenge. As in other areas, countries with greater capacity have benefitted more from technology spillovers, and agricultural extension services play an important part in ensuring that research benefits are disseminated (Pal, 2011). Finally, assessing the impacts of CGIAR's work is essential; it has focused to date on impacts on agricultural yields and productivity, and has struggled with assessing environmental impacts, as well as impacts of natural resource management research and policy-oriented research (Renkow and Byerlee, 2010).

A global collaborative RD&D programme on climate technologies would likely similarly be useful if focused on a) technologies with a global impact and b) technologies and technological processes with opportunity for geographic spillover. For adaptation technologies a significant challenge is currently adoption and diffusion at the local scale (UNEP, 2014), something the CGIAR has struggled with. When technologies must be specifically adapted to certain contexts, this makes it difficult to achieve scale in the diffusion. For example, water and soil conservation technologies vary greatly depending on local agricultural ecology conditions (Kato et al., 2009). The use of new technologies by a given group of farmers, such as new seed varieties and crops, can be impeded by various factors, including

_

¹¹ Some countries that are non-Annex I countries under the Convention do not receive automatic funding, but are granted funding according to a specific collaborative arrangement, as in cases of bilateral agreements for scientific and technical collaboration between the EU and a given country. This includes Mexico, Korea, China, South Africa, and India.

¹² In place since the 1970s, the CGIAR only recently established itself as a consortium, an international organisation which develops and carries out research programmes across 15 research centres. Funding has increased steadily over the past decade, and reached USD 986 million in 2013 (CGIAR, 2005, 2008, 2014).

¹³ Mainly rice, wheat and maize; sorghum, cassava, beans and potatoes also benefitted.

missing credit and insurance markets, inadequate extension systems, weak local institutions, and poorly functioning markets (Lybbert and Sumner, 2012). 14

Global collaboration on RD&D has yielded positive impacts in the past, in non-climate fields as well. As such, the potential for such collaboration leading to technological advancements and greater technology development could be "medium" to "high" (see summary Table ES-2). While focus on RD&D fills a gap in current collaborative technology activities, efforts should also continue to focus on deployment and diffusion. The effectiveness of current proposals in actually enhancing technology development and transfer is assessed as "low" to "medium". First, this will depend on how collaboration is structured and implemented: including whether it would narrowly focus on laboratories and research institutions, or include innovative practices that can adapt technologies and practices on the ground (Ockwell and Byrne, 2015). Second, it might be difficult to separate climaterelevant technologies from other environmental technologies. Finally, it is not clear the UNFCCC would be the most efficient body through which to establish a single, collaborative RD&D programme. This would require significant resources, and the programme should ideally be independent from particular political processes and flexible. The financial flows and results of global collaborative efforts could be monitored. Any global research programme is likely to struggle to determine how it chooses to measure its impacts, and have to overcome methodological constraints to assessing these; ease of monitoring is therefore assessed as "medium". Nothing precludes the existing Technology Mechanism from co-ordinating collaborative activities or monitoring their implementation and results.

4. Technical assessment of specific suggestions: capacity building

The current textual proposals on capacity building (UNFCCC, 2015) in the Geneva negotiating text are rather cursory. This section explores whether some of the current proposals could contribute to enhancing capacity and capacity-building activities. It also explores whether they could be effective in meeting their objectives (are they based on practices that have worked in the past, and could they be implemented), and whether these are currently addressed within the existing climate regime. Though the proposals assessed are a small sub-set of those contained in the text, they still remain rather vague; it is not clear which actors are targeted, and how these proposals could be operationalised.

Certain proposals in the Geneva text to enhance capacity building in paragraphs 136 and 137 will not be assessed, as most of these are principles rather than specific activities. Some of these proposals simply describe actual capacity building activities themselves, such as the promotion of public awareness and education, or the strengthening of domestic institutions and the creation of enabling environments. Another, "the development of climate policies", may develop capacities but also requires capacity to implement. Finally, the proposal for "the mobilisation of private sector capital and public engagement" is vague; it is unclear what is meant by both. The commitment proposed in paragraph 138 is rather generic; it is not clear that this would be new or different from existing commitments under the Convention, or that it would be monitored in a manner other than current reporting obligations. Paragraphs 136 to 138 also contain general references to the provision of support for capacity building, for implementing capacity-building activities, and for "enhancing capacity", which will not be examined. They highlight the difficulty of separating provision of financial support with the types of activities finance can be used for, namely capacity building or technology development. As described in the technology section above, in practical terms predetermining what climate finance is to be used for at a global level can lead to exacerbating geographical disparities in finance flows, and can undermine demand-driven provision of funds.

⁻

¹⁴ Thanks to Anne Olhoff of the UNEP DTU Partnership for these examples, provided in a discussion paper prepared for a Workshop on Technology issues under the 2015 Paris Agreement hosted by UNEP on 26-27 March, 2015.

4.1 Definitions and context

There is no clear definition of "capacity building" within the UNFCCC. Decision 2/CP.7 established a capacity building framework which states that: "capacity building should assist developing countries to build, develop, strengthen, enhance and improve their capabilities to achieve the objective of the Convention through the implementation of the provisions of the Convention...". While conceptual debates continue, "capacity building" can be understood as an external intervention to strengthen capacity, distinguished from "capacity development" which can be seen as an internal process (Simister and Smith, 2010). Capacity building can therefore be seen as a process and an end in and of itself, though it is primarily a means to achieving actual capacity development (ibid.). UNDP (2010) for example, which prefers to use the term capacity development, defines it as "the process through which individuals, organisations and societies obtain, strengthen and maintain capabilities to set and achieve their own development objectives over time". Another very broad definition sees capacity as "the ability of a human system to perform, sustain itself and self-renew" (Ubels, Flowler and Acquaye-Baddoo, 2010). The OECD (2006) has defined capacity development as "the process by which individuals, groups and organisations, institutions and countries develop, enhance and organise their systems, resources and knowledge; all reflected in their abilities, individually and collectively, to perform functions, solve problems and achieve objectives." Capacity-building outcomes are generally evaluated by the organisations providing such support using their own tools, which also assess various capacity-building outcomes within supported programmes or projects (Pearson, 2011; WBI, 2012; Bellamy and Hill, 2010; GEF, 2011).

As such, capacity building in the context of the UNFCCC can be seen as supporting the development and enhancement of systems, resources and knowledge required to meet the objective of the Convention. The ability of countries to implement the Convention and achieve their climate-related objectives can be a measure of effectiveness of capacity building (UNFCCC, 2008). In practice, it is difficult to separate climate-related objectives from other socio-economic objectives. This is largely due to the nature of the climate change challenge, and the inextricable link between action on climate change and broader economic activity. As such, certain capacities needed for undertaking climate adaptation and mitigation policies may be similar to those required to develop, implement and evaluate other sound socio-economic development policies, such as institutional development (UNFCCC, 2014b). For example, Tunisia highlighted that it needed capacity building support for measurement and verification systems, communication, project management and developing new financing mechanisms within the renewable energy and energy efficiency sectors (SEDD, 2014). Human and technical capacities to undertake these activities will be similar for other economic sectors (e.g. having skilled engineers, a developed financial sector, having data gathering processes and human capacity for these activities). Capacity development for adaptation is generally strengthened with mainstreaming and linking adaptation to other development priorities (UNFCCC, 2014b). The move from national adaptation programmes of action (NAPAs) to national adaptation plans (NAPs) underlines a shift toward development of a wide set of capacities in a broader range of actors, including non-environmental ministries. National adaptation strategies in OECD countries tend to focus heavily upon capacity development (Mullan et al., 2013).

The continued need for developing and building capacity for climate action is widely recognised. Parties clearly express the need for continued capacity developed in various fora under the UNFCCC, both in formal negotiations and within the Durban Forum for Capacity Building (UNFCCC, 2012, 2014b). While some capacities needed are common to those required for other socio-economic development needs, there are also capacities specific to implementing the Convention. This includes preparing GHG inventories, as well as preparing national communications, biennial update reports, as well as technology-focused (TNAs, TAPs) and adaptation-focused reports (NAPs, and NAPAs). These activities receive specific funding under the Convention and support includes capacity building (UNFCCC, 2014a; Briner et al., 2014). There are also technical capacities specific to climate change actions, such as climate vulnerability assessments and estimating GHG emission factors for specific activities.

Many aspects of strengthening institutions and enabling environments for climate change are common to challenges with enhancing the "greening" of economic development more generally (OECD, 2012). Within the wider context of capacity challenges for sustainable development in many countries, processes under the UNFCCC aim to strengthen specific climate-relevant capacities that may not spillover from or be included in other capacity development efforts. Similarly, the capacity building provided under the UNFCCC will likely be limited and not necessarily strengthen more broadly needed socio-economic development capacities.

4.2 Predictable targets and outcomes

Paragraph 136 (UNFCCC, 2015) includes reference to "clear and predictable targets and outcomes" to "guide" capacity building. At the global level, current discussions of the post-2015 Sustainable Development Goals integrate the aim of building capacity within different goals, ¹⁵ though a few are cross-cutting (data collection and implementation of sustainable development goals). Across these goals, only two would require specific indicators relating to capacity building: one for increased capacity related to water and sanitation services, and another related to the science, technology and innovation (STI) capacity building mechanism for LDCs (see section 3.3) For both these areas, no indicators currently exist and would have to be developed.

It is possible to have clear targets and outcomes for capacity development at the national level; as a country-driven process, this would require countries to outline specific capacity outcomes and targets. These could then be broken down into indicators for both the capacity-building activity, and the actual capacity development sought (Pearson, 2011). For example, a country may wish to better integrate climate and other environmental concerns into poverty reduction policies, planning and investment. Specific activities can be monitored, such as completing a public expenditure review, producing economic analysis of the costs of environmental degradation and impacts on livelihoods, and developing checklists and guidelines for mainstreaming the environment in economic development policy. The capacity development outcome could be measured in terms of the level of mainstreaming achieved, through inclusion of climate and environment in sectoral strategic plans and priorities, and increases in budgeting for environment across various ministries by the Ministry of Finance and Planning. 16 Capacity development tends to be seen as a means to an end, and is most often assessed in terms of "improvements in performance", based on the assumption that if by some measure performance is improving, it means capacity has improved. There are also different ways of assessing capacity development which look not only at performance but other elements of capacity, and tend to be more adaptable and process oriented; both approaches are useful in different contexts (Watson, 2010). Since capacity is meant to result in the ability to "perform functions, solve problems and achieve objectives", looking at whether there are changes in these abilities could also be a way of monitoring progress. But what, specifically, is considered an improvement in a climate-change related ability and should therefore be assessed, tends to be specific to the needs of a particular organisation or system. As such, the ability to monitor this objective is considered "medium" (see Table ES-2), if implemented at a national level.

One challenge for implementation of clear and predictable targets and outcomes is that capacity development generally occurs over long time-frames, making it more difficult to assess both the impacts of capacity-building activities, and the resulting capacity development outcomes (Simister and Smith, 2010). It can also be challenging to secure long-term funding for sustained activities of this kind (Morgan, Dagnet and Tirpak, 2014). For example, addressing barriers to technology

_

¹⁵ Including Goal 3 on healthy lives and wellbeing (for early warning and risk reduction), Goal 6 on water and sanitation (for related activities and programmes), Goal 8 on sustainable economic growth (for domestic financial institutions), Goal 13 on climate change (for human and institutional capacity), Goal 15 on biodiversity and land degradation (for sustainable livelihood opportunities in local communities), Goal 17 on means of implementation (for domestic revenue collection, implementing sustainable development goals, for data collection and for science, technology and innovation).

¹⁶ This example is drawn from the experience of Rwanda, as outlined in UNDP (2011).

development and transfer includes strengthening enabling environments. This generally includes improving education systems, and impacts may only be visible after years of sustained effort.

If countries set out clear objectives and outcomes related to their capacity needs, this could have a positive effect on securing financial and other resources, on implementing capacity-building activities, and therefore lead to enhanced capacity development. Doing so would be useful at a national level. If the proposal refers to a collective or global capacity-building targets and outcomes, it is less clear how a global target that can be monitored would be useful, unless it is purely financial. Indeed, this section has discussed targets and outcomes for capacity building *activities* and their *outcomes*, but it is not clear *what* target and outcomes the Geneva text refers to. The proposal could be interpreted as a clear and predictable target for financial resources for capacity building; in this case, it could be treated as part of a financial goal. For these reasons, the potential for this proposal to lead to enhanced capacity building is considered "medium", and its likelihood of meeting this objective as "low", because it is unclear how this would be implemented.

4.3 Integrating capacity building into "all elements"

One proposal in paragraph 137 calls for integrating capacity-building activities into mitigation and adaptation programmes, or into all other elements. While reference to "all other elements" is vague, it reflects the practical impossibility of separating capacity building from any other activity under the Convention. This includes technology development and transfer, mobilising non-governmental sources of finance, absorptive capacity for finance and technology, and developing and implementing both adaptation and mitigation policies and programmes. As mentioned above, many of these capacities may not be specific to climate change. Climate change programmes in many developing countries are meant to occur in the context of sustainable development, and do often cover other sustainable development issues (e.g. poverty eradication and food security) (UNFCCC, 2014d). Capacity development activities are also often frequently included with other forms of climate support (UNFCCC, 2012; Bellamy and Hill, 2010; ADB, 2012). In practice, donor countries of the OECD/DAC as well as multilateral donors, integrate capacity building into all funding programmes – whether these are related to climate change or not. This is because not doing so would be ineffective and is not considered to be good development practice (OECD, 2008; UNFCCC, 2013b; Bellamy and Hill, 2010; WBI, 2012). While good practice, this makes capacity building more difficult to "track" and assess independently. For example, the GEF evaluates capacity development indicators as part of broader monitoring and evaluation processes for projects. These are flexible; they include an indication of levels of engagement, management and implementation, and the generation of knowledge, and can be adapted to the circumstances and objectives of a given intervention (Bellamy and Hill, 2010). Knowing how much capacity building is provided is notoriously difficult and information is incomplete (Morgan, Dagnet and Tirpak, 2014). Given the integration of capacity building in the provision of financial support, as well as technological support, it can be difficult to get specific details on the exact composition of capacity building activities and the specific amounts directed towards them.

Within the UNFCCC, Parties have recognised the need to better integrate capacity building with financial and technical resources, improve co-ordination among donors, and integrate capacity building into national development strategies, budgets and plans (Decision 2/CP.10 and Decision 13/CP.17). If capacity building was integrated and emphasised within the provision of all kinds of support, as well as by countries themselves as part of domestic policy processes, this in practice could lead to more resources, more effectively devoted to capacity development. In addition, it may better allow for the longer timeframes and sustained activities needed for effective capacity development. This proposal therefore has "medium" to "high" potential in terms of enhancing the amount of capacity building and development. The likelihood of capacity building being enhanced in practice is assessed only as "medium", partly because of the political importance placed within the UNFCCC on being able to separately monitor the amount of support provided for capacity building. Better integrating capacity building makes this more difficult, and may limit the level of integration within UNFCCC institutions and processes. A dedicated funding stream for capacity building, for example,

would be easier to monitor, but potentially complex to administer if it needed to be effectively integrated into ongoing activities supported by separate sources of climate finance.

4.4 International capacity building mechanism

Paragraph 140 of the Geneva text (UNFCCC, 2015) proposes creating an "international capacitybuilding mechanism". Some aspects of the proposal suggest it would be structured like the existing technology mechanism. Various proposals refer to a co-ordination centre or a central committee, a consortium or network of institutions and/or regional-capacity building centres, an advisory body, and an evaluation mechanism. The proposals point to the need for better co-ordination and collaboration between various institutions involved in climate-relevant capacity building. They also suggest a desire for more assessment or evaluation of capacity needs and capacity-building activities, along with tools and methodologies for doing so. Capacity-building activities have dedicated processes under the UNFCCC, primarily the Durban Forum on Capacity Building and the Doha Work Programme and Dialogue on Article 6 (on education, training and public awareness). Capacity-building also occurs via the Technology Mechanism (UNFCCC, 2014d, 2012), while capacity building for adaptation and resilience is provided by the Least Developed Countries Expert Group and the Nairobi Work Programme. Various capacity development activities are supported by the Global Environment Facility (GEF) as enabling activities (UNFCCC, 2014e). Many institutions outside of the UNFCCC also provide support for adaptation and resilience capacity development, such as UNDP, FAO, and the UN-REDD programme (Briner et al., 2014).

Capacity development plays a huge role in the success of both financial and technical support. Integrating these components can therefore be beneficial. This also translates into a desire for greater co-ordination and management of all capacity-building activities under the UNFCCC (UNFCCC, 2013c, 2014b). Some of the functions listed for the capacity-building mechanism might be challenging given the integration of capacity-building into other forms of support (e.g. assessing support received for capacity building and its effectiveness). Having a central committee or coordination centre that would perform a range of functions (including identifying capacity needs, developing MRV tools and analysing capacity-building gaps) in a manner tailored to each country's unique circumstances would likely be resource intensive, and would take time to establish. Countries may consider the urgency of enhancing capacity building and whether this could be effectively accomplished through existing institutions. If not, the development of a new institution or facility could be a medium-term exercise. There are already many tools that can be used for monitoring and assessing capacity-building activities, their delivery and outcomes (Pearson, 2011; WBI, 2012; Bellamy and Hill, 2010; GEF, 2011), which could potentially be better disseminated. The GEF uses a Scorecard with flexible, qualitative indicators across five different "capacity result" areas. The World Bank Institute (WBI) outlines the use of "programme logic" to trace changes in capacity development, including using indicators for setting objectives and intermediate outcomes. It also provides guidance for methods such as developing and analysing questionnaires. Information-sharing on different experiences with monitoring and evaluation frameworks, for example, could be useful. If parties feel the Durban Forum is not adequately fulfilling this function, they may wish to reconsider its mandate and modalities.

Part of the concern with capacity-building efforts to date is that these are not sustained in-line with the long lead-time capacity development requires (Morgan, Dagnet and Tirpak, 2014). In this case, discussions on providing more predictability and stability for these activities could be held within broader action on development co-operation effectiveness (see OECD, 2014b). The GCF may need to consider the long-term nature of investments required for capacity development as part of ensuring "adequate resources for capacity-building" as per its governing instrument (GCF, 2014b).

Any new mechanism would need to be focused on capacity building directly relevant to products or processes required by the Convention (e.g. inventories, national communications, projections, etc.). Otherwise, it would risk being dwarfed by the wide range of capacity development issues faced by countries in developing and implementing climate policies. Delimiting the scope of its activities could

be challenging. Given the length of time and political complexity involved whenever a new institution or process is set up within the UNFCCC, it is not clear that creating a new and separate mechanism would lead to better results. The kind of co-ordination and information sharing needed could potentially be achieved more rapidly by strengthening the remit, mandates and resources of existing processes that aim to build capacity for achieving the objective of the Convention. It is also not clear if creating a separate mechanism would facilitate the integration of capacity building across "all elements" of the Convention or the new agreement. Given the uncertainty surrounding this proposal, it is difficult to assess whether it could potentially enhance capacity building, do so effectively, and whether it would increase ease of monitoring for capacity building.

5. Conclusions

Climate support in the form of finance, technology and capacity building is an important enabler of enhanced climate action in developing countries. A key factor for the 2015 agreement will be how to include the issue of climate support in the body of the agreement, and which elements may more usefully be placed in a COP decision or a work programme under the UNFCCC. The 2015 agreement may frame overarching objectives and a certain "direction of travel" towards these objectives, for both mitigation and adaptation. If the provision of support is to be responsive to countries' needs regarding these objectives, including in the 2015 agreement specific language on the types and amounts of support, or specific institutional arrangements for their provision, could be risky. It may result in an agreement that lacks flexibility, is overly prescriptive and not sufficiently responsive to country needs, and therefore of limited durability. Climate support is, after all, a means to an end rather than end in itself. While the 2015 agreement may provide a vision for a certain end point, the routes to get there will be different for different countries and change over time.

Climate finance

Current proposals regarding climate finance in the Geneva text differ substantially. They differ in terms of the amount of climate finance they could be expected to mobilise, the sources of such finance, whether increased finance would fill gaps that are currently not addressed within the UNFCCC, the ease of implementation of the proposal, and the ease of monitoring the results.

For example, amounts of total resources generated by different proposals could range from millions of dollars via a levy on market-based mechanisms to potentially billions of dollars via fossil fuel subsidy reform. Similarly, climate finance mobilisation and impact on GHG emissions from phasing down or phasing out high-carbon investments is likely to be much greater than using export credit agencies to manage risk. The use of green bonds could potentially mobilise significant resources for climate mitigation and adaptation; limiting the proposal to renewable energy and energy efficiency bonds seems unnecessarily restrictive. Other proposals could also have strong positive impacts on the mobilisation of climate finance. This includes enhancing domestic enabling environments – although the impact of such enhancement will depend on how attractive current enabling environments are. The development and use of financial risk management instruments to facilitate climate change adaptation financing could have a significantly positive impact under the UNFCCC, especially for the LDCs - although it is uncertain to what level this could mobilise climate finance. It is pivotal that the fiduciary responsibility of investors to seek investments with optimal risk-adjusted returns is recognised. The development of strong and stable policy frameworks is a key way to help climate change adaptation financing pass this requirement.

The actual impact on climate finance mobilisation of several proposals examined in this paper will depend on how they are implemented at national level. This applies to subsidy reform, shifting high-carbon investments, enhancing enabling environments, using export credit agencies and other risk management instruments. It may also be beyond the reach of an international agreement, for example, to earmark sources of funds from certain proposals, such as reducing fossil fuel subsidies or taxing oil for climate-specific purposes. This makes the impact of proposals difficult to assess and quantify.

Any assessment of mobilised climate finance will face challenges with monitoring and tracking. This difficulty is likely to remain, even if there is political agreement on what "should" count towards climate finance. There are data gaps which are difficult to fill, and any results of quantifying climate finance will be very sensitive to the methodological choices made, which means that there is inherent uncertainty in any quantified estimates. For example, as climate finance flows through multiple intermediaries, some of which may have joint ownership, it is not straightforward to determine where to draw the line between public and private or sometimes even between developed and developing country sources (Caruso and Jachnik, 2014). Different methodological choices in this regard can significantly influence whether the finance is "counted" as coming from developed or developing countries, and whether it is public or private.

This uncertainty in quantifying flows is important to keep in mind when proposing legally-binding quantified commitments measured in these terms. On the other hand, progress with a generic or aspirational goal for increasing and mobilising climate finance is also difficult to measure. Balance is needed between these two extremes.

In order for progress to be measured, some quantification is needed. While accepting a certain level of uncertainty, the international community could usefully explore whether a goal for climate finance would be in terms of outflows from developed countries, or alternatively in terms of inflows, outcomes or impacts of such finance in developing countries.

Technology and capacity building

The proposals on enhancing technology development and transfer, and on capacity building, are highly sensitive to national circumstances and implementation, making it difficult to assess the potential global impact of these proposals. To be actionable, proposals for global goals will need to be taken forward in specific ways at the national level. Several proposals could have a positive impact on technology development and transfer, including increasing RD&D collaboration, setting specific national technology-related objectives as part of overarching goals, and addressing barriers (which can also be related to capacity development). However, many barriers to technology development and transfer relate to issues that fall outside the scope of the UNFCCC, such as trade, investment, legal institutions, capacities, skills and innovation abilities. As such, the on-the-ground effectiveness of proposals within a global climate change agreement is unclear.

It is not clear how the proposals as articulated would apply to individual countries. Global technology assessments could be used to set global goals, but would not address country-specific technology needs, barriers, and the particular capacities needed to overcome these barriers. For example, monitoring climate-relevant technology transfer is only straightforward for a restricted number of climate-specific technologies (e.g. renewable energy, CCS). Many technologies that will help countries meet their climate objectives are more difficult to identify, especially for adaptation. For this reason, examples and ways of assessing progress with technology goals currently exist mostly for energy-related mitigation technologies. It may be fruitful to place technology discussions within, or link these to, broader examination within the UN system of the development and transfer of environmentally-sound technologies.

Disentangling capacity building from other aspects relating to implementation of the Convention is a challenge. It is also difficult to separate climate-relevant capacity needs from broader socio-economic development capacity needs. Strengthening the capacity-building aspect in the provision of all kinds of support might help simultaneous implementation of longer-term capacity development activities with shorter to medium-term actions to implement the Convention. Concrete targets and outcomes for capacity development at the national level, which would then guide capacity building, could be helpful.

The functions of a proposed new capacity-building mechanism suggest a need for better co-ordination of capacity-building activities. Several of these functions could potentially be carried out by the

different bodies already working on capacity building under the Convention, as well as its existing subsidiary bodies. Experience both within and outside the UNFCCC suggests that creating new institutions is time and resource-intensive, and that once created it can be difficult for institutions to be flexible and adaptable. As such, proposals for new mechanisms and institutions should be carefully considered. The mandates and work programmes of existing institutions and arrangements could be modified to ensure they meet current needs. Establishing a new institution for co-ordinating activities may not be more efficient than reassigning this task to an existing institution.

Capacity building and capacity development could be monitored in various ways, though such monitoring and evaluation tends to be context specific, and more difficult to do globally. Tracking financial support specifically for capacity building is also somewhat difficult, as this is generally integrated into overall projects and broader support flows.

Way forward

The goals and objectives of climate support will need to be tailored to different country circumstances. If countries want to measure progress with objectives, these will need to be articulated in a more specific manner at the national level. In many cases, measuring progress towards objectives relating to mobilisation or receipt of climate support is possible but subject to considerable uncertainty. This uncertainty will need to be taken into account as countries determine the shape climate support provisions will take the 2015 agreement. The aspirational nature of objectives in the agreement itself will somehow also need to be specified and monitored on a short- or medium-term basis. Balancing global objectives with national implementation, and the need to manage uncertainties, will contribute to the durability and flexibility of the 2015 agreement.

References

- ADB (Asian Development Bank) (2013), Environment Operational Directions 2013–2020, www.adb.org/documents/environment-operational-directions-2013-2020.
- ADB (2012), ADB's Response to Natural Disasters and Disaster Risks, Special Evaluation Study, October, Asian Development Bank Independent Evaluation, ADB, Manila.
- AfDB (African Development Bank) (2012), Financing Climate Change: Africa's Access to Convention Funds, COP18 High-Level Side Event Concept Note, 3 December, AfDB, Abidjan.
- Agrawala, S. et al. (2010), "Plan or React? Analysis of Adaptation Costs and Benefits Using Integrated Assessment Models", *OECD Environment Working Papers*, No. 23, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5km975m3d5hb-en.
- Agrawala, S. and S. Fankhauser (eds.) (2008), Economic Aspects of Adaptation to Climate Change: Costs, Benefits and Policy Instruments, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264046214-en.
- Alier, J (2009), "Socially Sustainable Economic De-growth", *Development and Change*, Volume 40, Issue 6, November 2009, pp 1099-1119.
- Aoki, C (2013), "Global Environment Facility: Integration of Capacity Building Elements in Mitigation Projects", Durban Forum on Capacity-Building, 2nd Meeting, 4 June 2013, https://unfccc.int/files/cooperation_and_support/capacity_building/application/pdf/df2cbm03.pdf.
- APEC (Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation) (2009), 2009 Leaders' Declaration, Singapore, November 2009, www.apec.org/Meeting-Papers/Leaders-Declarations/2009/2009_aelm.aspx.
- ARC (African Risk Capacity) (not dated), "Inputs provided by: African Risk Capacity Secretariat", Johannesburg, South Africa, http://unfccc.int/files/adaptation/cancun_adaptation_framework/loss_and_damage/application/pdf/arc.pdf.
- Bachher, J. S. and A. H. B. Monk, (2012), *Platforms and Vehicles for Institutional Co--Investing*, Available at SSRN: http://ssrn.com/abstract=2174696 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2174696.
- Barnsley I. and S-J Ahn (2014), *Mapping Multilateral Collaboration on Low-Carbon Energy Technologies*, Insights Series, IEA/OECD Publishing, Paris.
- Basu, C., Ghatikar, G. and Bansal P. (2014), "Enabling Efficient, Responsive, and Resilient Buildings: Collaboration Between the United States and India", presented and published at the IEEE Proceedings on Smart Grid and the New Energy Economy, Chicago, IL, September 2013; LBNL-6594E.
- Bellamy, J-J and K. Hill (2010), Monitoring Guidelines of Capacity Development in Global Environment Facility Projects, Global Support Programme, Bureau for Development Policy, United Nations Development Programme, New York.
- Boldt, J., Nygaard, I., Hansen, U. E. and S. Trærup (2012), "Overcoming Barriers to the Transfer and Diffusion of Climate Technologies, UNEP Risø Centre, Roskilde, Denmark, 2012.
- Briner, G., et al. (2014), "Taking Stock of the UNFCCC Process and its Inter-linkages", OECD/IEA Climate Change Expert Group Papers, No. 2014/04, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5js1qf553zf8-en.
- Caruso, R. and R. Jachnik (2014), "Exploring Potential Data Sources for Estimating Private Climate Finance", OECD Environment Working Papers, No. 69, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5jz15qwz4hs1-en.
- Caruso, R. and J. Ellis (2013), "Comparing Definitions and Methods to Estimate Mobilised Climate Finance", OECD/IEA Climate Change Expert Group Papers, No. 2013/02, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5k44wj0s6fq2-en.
- CGIAR (2005, 2008, 2014), CGIAR Financial Report, CGIAR Fund Office, The World Bank Group, Washington D.C.
- Clapp, C., et al. (2012), "Tracking Climate Finance: What and How?", *OECD/IEA Climate Change Expert Group Papers*, No. 2012/01, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5k44xwtk9tvk-en.
- Climate Bonds Initiative (2015), Year 2014 Green Bonds Final Report, www.climatebonds.net/files/files/Year%20end%20report%202014.pdf.
- Climate Bonds Initiative (2014), *Bonds and Climate Change: The State of the Market in 2014*, Report Commissioned by HSBC, July, *www.climatebonds.net*.
- Collier, B., Skees, J. and B. Barnett (2009), Weather Index Insurance and Climate Change: Opportunities and Challenges in Lower Income Countries. The Geneva Papers (2009) 34, 401–424. doi:10.1057/gpp.2009.11, www.palgrave-journals.com/gpp/journal/v34/n3/abs/gpp200911a.html.
- Corfee-Morlot, J., et al. (2009), "Cities, Climate Change and Multilevel Governance", *OECD Environment Working Papers N*° 14, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/220062444715.

- Corvaglia, Maria (2013), South-South Technology Transfer Addressing Climate Change: The Emerging Role of Developing Countries, Working Paper No 2013/04 March 2013, http://www.nccr-trade.org/fileadmin/user_upload/nccrtrade.ch/wp1/NCCR_WP_with_COVER_SSTT_MACorvaglia_2013.pdf.
- CPI (Climate Policy Initiative) (2013a), San Giorgio Group Case Study: Jädraås Onshore Windfarm, http://climatepolicyinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/Jadraas-Onshore-Windfarm-Case-Study.pdf.
- CPI (Climate Policy Initiative) (2013b), Mapping the World Bank Group Risk Mitigation Instruments for Climate Change, http://climatepolicyinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/World-Bank-Group-Risk-Mitigation-Instruments-for-Climate-Change-Brief1.pdf.
- CTI (Carbon Tracker Initiative) (2013), "Unburnable Carbon 2013: Wasted capital and stranded assets", Carbon Tracker Initiative and Grantham Research Institute, http://carbontracker.live.kiln.it/Unburnable-Carbon-2-Web-Version.pdf.
- DAC (Development Assistance Committee) (2013), "Climate-related Aid", OECD DAC Statistics, www.oecd.org/dac/stats/documentupload/Climate%20change-related%20Aid%20Flyer%20-%20November%202013.pdf.
- DEA (Department for Environmental Affairs) (2014), "South Africa's 1st Biennial Update Report", Republic of South Africa, http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/natc/zafbur1.pdf.
- Dechezleprêtre, A., Glachant, M. and. Y. Ménière (2013), "What Drives the International Transfer of Climate Change Mitigation Technologies? Empirical Evidence from Patent Data", *Environmental and Resource Economics*, Vol. 54, Issue 2, Springer, Berlin, pp. 161-178.
- EBRD (European Bank for Reconstruction and Development) (2014), FINTECC (Finance and Technology Transfer Centre for Climate Change): Supporting business to implement climate technologies in the EBRD region, www.ebrd.com/downloads/research/factsheets/fintecc.pdf.
- EBRD (European Bank for Reconstruction and Development) (2013), Energy Sector Strategy. www.ebrd.com/downloads/policies/sector/energy-sector-strategy.pdf.
- EFK (2014) Export Credits and Climate Finance: Follow-up on the ECA Workshop on Climate Finance a Compendium, Denmark's Export Credit Agency, Copenhagen.
- EIB (European Investment Bank) (2013), Energy Lending Criteria. www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/eib_energy_lending_criteria_en.pdf.
- Forsyth, T. (2005), "Enhancing Climate Technology Transfer through Greater Public-Private Cooperation: Lessons from Thailand and the Philippines", *Natural Resources Forum*, Vol. 29, United Nations Sustainable Development Journal, Blackwell Publishing, Oxford and Malden, pp. 165-176.
- GCF (Green Climate Fund) (2015), "Private Sector Facility: Potential Approaches to Mobilizing Funding at Scale", GCF/B.09/11, 18 February, Agenda Item 16, Meeting of the Board, 24-26 March, GCF Secretariat, Incheon.
- GCF (2014a) Decisions of the Board Sixth Meeting of the Board, 19-21 February 2014, GCF/B.06/18.
- GCF (2014b) Initial Modalities for the Operation of the Fund's Mitigation and Adaptation Windows and its Private Sector Facility, GCF/B.07/08.
- GCF (2013a), Modalities for Readiness and Preparatory Support, GCF/B.05/15, Meeting of the Board, 8-10 October, Paris, GCF Secretariat, Incheon.
- GCF (2013b) Business Model Framework: Private Sector Facility, GCF/B.04/07, GCF Secretariat, Incheon.
- GEF (2011), *The GEF Monitoring and Evaluation Policy 2010*, Evaluation Document November 2010 No. 4, Global Environment Facility Evaluation Office, Washington D.C.
- Halonen, M. (2008). "How to Measure Progress in Technology Transfer: Private Sector Perceptions of Opportunities and Challenges for Technology Transfer", Trade and Climate Change Dialogue, International Environment House, Geneva.
- Haščič, I., et al. (2015), "Public Interventions and Private Finance Flows: Empirical Evidence from Renewable Energy Financing", OECD Environment Working Papers, No. 80, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5js6b1r9lfd4-en.
- Helgeson, J. and J. Ellis (2015), "The Role of the 2015 Agreement in Enhancing Adaptation to Climate Change", *OECD/IEA Climate Change Expert Group Papers*, No. 2015/01, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5jrxg3xb0h20-en.
- Hood, C. and G. Briner (2014), "Energy Sector Transformation: Issues and Options for the UNFCCC Negotiations", OECD/IEA Climate Change Expert Group Papers, No. 2014/05, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5js1qf33f5xq-en.

- Hood, C., G. Briner and M. Rocha (2014), "GHG or not GHG: Accounting for diverse mitigation contributions in the post-2020 climate framework", *OECD/IEA Climate Change Expert Group Papers*, No. 2014/02, OECD Publishing, Paris. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5js1qf652kd3-en.
- ICMA (2014), Green Bond Principles, 2014 Voluntary Process Guidelines for Issuing Green Bonds, www.icmagroup.org/Regulatory-Policy-and-Market-Practice/green-bonds/.
- IEA (2015), Energy Technology Perspectives 2015, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/energy_tech-2015-en.
- IEA (2014a), World Energy Investment Outlook 2014, IEA, Paris, www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/weio2014.pdf.
- IEA (2014b), World Energy Outlook 2014, IEA, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/weo-2014-en.
- IEA (2014c), Energy Technology Perspectives 2014, IEA, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/energy_tech-2014-en.
- IEA (2014d), Energy Efficiency Market Report 2014, IEA, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264218260-en.
- IEA (2014e), Medium-Term Renewable Energy Market Report2014, IEA, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/renewmar-2014-en.
- IEA (2013), Energy Technology Initiatives 2013: Implementation through Multilateral Co-operation, IEA, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264207646-en.
- IEA, OPEC, OECD and World Bank (2011), Joint report by IEA, OPEC, OECD and World Bank on fossil-fuel and other energy subsidies: An update of the G20 Pittsburgh and Toronto Commitments, prepared for the G20 Meeting of Finance Ministers and Central Bank Governors (Paris, October 2011) and the G20 Summit (Cannes, November 2011), www.oecd.org/site/tadffss/49006998.pdf.
- IPCC (2014a), Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects.

 Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- IPCC (2014b), Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- IPCC (2000), Methodological and technological issues in technology transfer: a special report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change, Cambridge University Press, UK.
- IRENA (not dated), 30 years of policies for wind energy: Lessons from Germany, www.irena.org/DocumentDownloads/Publications/GWEC_Germany.pdf.
- Jachnik, R., R. Caruso and A. Srivastava (2015), "Estimating Mobilised Private Climate Finance: Methodological Approaches, Options and Trade-offs", OECD Environment Working Papers, No. 83, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5js4x001rqf8-en.
- Kaminker, C. et al. (2013), "Institutional Investors and Green Infrastructure Investments: Selected Case Studies", *OECD Working Papers on Finance, Insurance and Private Pensions*, No.35', http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5k3xr8k6jb0n-en.
- Kato, T., J. Ellis and C. Clapp (2014a), "The Role of the 2015 Agreement in Mobilising Climate Finance" OECD/IEA Climate Change Expert Group Papers, No. 2014/07, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5js03h9ztlbr-en.
- Kato, T., et al. (2014b), "Scaling up and Replicating Effective Climate Finance Interventions", OECD/IEA Climate Change Expert Group Papers, No. 2014/01, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5js1qffvmnhk-en.
- Kato E., Ringler, C., Yesuf, M. and E. Bryan (2009), Soil and Water Conservation Technologies: A Buffer against Production Risk in the Face of Climate Change? Insights from the Nile Basin in Ethiopia, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Discussion Paper 00871, IFPRI, Washington D.C. www.ifpri.org/sites/default/files/publications/ifpridp00871.pdf.
- Latif, A. (2015), "Intellectual Property Rights and the Transfer of Climate Change Technologies: Issues, Challenges and Way Forward", *Climate Policy*, Vol. 15, No.1, Taylor and Francis, Oxford, pp. 103-126.
- Lewis, J. I. (2014), "Managing intellectual property rights in cross-border clean energy collaboration: The case of the U.S.—China Clean Energy Research Center", *Energy Policy*, Volume 69, June 2014, Pages 546-554.
- Lybbert, T.J., and D.A. Sumner (2012), "Agricultural technologies for climate change in developing countries: Policy options for innovation and technology diffusion", *Food Policy*, Volume 37, Issue 1, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 114-123, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2011.11.001.

- McDougall, D. (2013), Lessons learned from Canada's fast-start financing, http://unfccc.int/files/cooperation_support/financial_mechanism/fast_start_finance/application/pdf/unfccc_side_eve nt_lessons_learned_from_fsf_-_final_clean.pdf.
- MCI (Ministry of Commerce and Industry) (2014), "Fact sheet on foreign direct investment", December 2014, Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion, Government of India, Ministry of Commerce and Industry, New Delhi. http://dipp.nic.in/English/Publications/FDI_Statistics/2014/india_FDI_December 2014.pdf.
- MDB Joint Reporting (2014), *Joint report on MDB Climate Finance 2013*, by African Development Bank, Asian Development Bank, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, European Investment Bank, Inter-American Development Bank, International Finance Corporation and World Bank.

 **www.eib.org/attachments/documents/joint_report_on_mdb_climate_finance_2013.pdf.
- MDB Joint Reporting (2011), Joint MDB report on Adaptation Finance 2011, by African Development Bank, Asian Development Bank, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, European Investment Bank, Inter-American Development Bank, International Finance Corporation and World Bank, www.afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Generic-Documents/Joint%20MDB%20Report%20on%20Adaptation%20Finance%202011.pdf.
- MEA (Ministry of External Affairs) (2014), "India in Business- Industry & Sectors: Infrastructure Sectors: Power", website of Ministry of External Affairs, Government of India, Investment and Technology Promotion Division, http://indiainbusiness.nic.in/newdesign/index.php?param=industryservices_landing/365/2 (accessed 24.02.2015).
- Minami, H. (2014), Japan's Fast-Start Finance and Lessons Learned, Presentation at a COP 19 side event on "Fast-start Finance lessons learned from 2010 to 2012"

 http://unfccc.int/files/cooperation_support/financial_mechanism/fast_start_finance/application/pdf/131112_fsf_presentation(japan).pdf.
- Morgan, J., Dagnet, Y. and D. Tirpak (2014), "Elements and Ideas for the 2015 Paris Agreement", Working Paper, December, ACT 2015, World Resources Institute, Washington D.C.
- Mullan, M., et al. (2013), "National Adaptation Planning: Lessons from OECD Countries", OECD Environment Working Papers, No. 54, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5k483jpfpsq1-en.
- Munich RE (2014), "Munich Re and GIZ are cooperating on an agricultural model project in Peru", website, www.munichre.com/en/media-relations/publications/company-news/2014/2014-07-02-company-news/index.html (Accessed 24/02/2015).
- Murabula, J. (not dated), Public Financial Institutions (PFIs) and Climate Finance in East Africa an Overview, www.acadfacility.org/downloads/bankers_forum_lom/s4/Public%20Finance%20mechanisms%20for%20Green%20Growth%20;%20Joseph%20MURABULA.pdf.
- Ockwell D. and R. Byrne (2015), CRIBs (Climate Relevant Innovation-system Builders): An Effective way Forward for International Climate Technology Policy, STEPS Working Paper 77, STEPS Centre, Brighton.
- ODI, WRI and IGES (2013) Mobilising International Climate Finance Lessons from the Fast-Start Finance Period, www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/8691.pdf.
- OECD (2015), Overcoming Barriers to International Investment in Clean Energy, Green Finance and Investment, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264227064-en.
- OECD (2015a), Policy Guidance for Investment in Clean Energy Infrastructure: Expanding Access to Clean Energy for Green Growth and Development, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264212664-en.
- OECD (2015b), Mapping Channels to Mobilise Institutional Investment in Sustainable Energy, Green Finance and Investment, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264224582-en.
- OECD DAC Statistics (2015c), "Preliminary ODA 2013 flows and trends since 1960", Aid Statistics website, www.oecd.org/dac/stats/.
- OECD (2014a), 2014 Global Outlook on Aid, Results of the 2014 DAC Survey on Donors' Forward Spending Plans and Prospects for Improving Aid Predictability, OECD Publishing, Paris, www.oecd.org/dac/aid-architecture/GlobalOutlookAid-web.pdf.
- OECD (2014b), Aid to Climate Change Adaptation, OECD DAC Statistics, www.oecd.org/dac/environment-development/Adaptation-related%20Aid%20Flyer%20-%20May%202014.pdf.
- OECD (2014c), Arrangement on officially supported export credits, January 2010 Revision, TAD/PG (2014)1, OECD, Paris, www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?doclanguage=en&cote=tad/pg(2014)1.
- OECD (2014d), Development Co-operation Report 2014: Mobilising Resources for Sustainable Development, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/dcr-2014-en.
- OECD (2013), OECD Science, Technology and Industry Scoreboard 2013: Innovation for Growth, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/sti_scoreboard-2013-en.

- OECD (2012), Greening Development: Enhancing Capacity for Environmental Management and Governance, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264167896-en.
- OECD (2010), "The Growing Technological Divide in a Four-speed World", *Perspectives on Global Development 2010: Shifting Wealth*, OECD Publishing, *http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264084728-11-en.*
- OECD (2008), The Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness and the Accra Agenda for Action, OECD Publishing, Paris, www.oecd.org/dac/effectiveness/34428351.pdf.
- OECD (2006), Applying Strategic Environmental Assessment: Good Practice Guidance for Development Co-operation, DAC Guidelines and Reference Series, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264026582-en.
- OECD (1998), Science Technology Industry (STI) Review No. 23: Special Issue on Public/Private Partnerships in Science and Technology, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/sti_rev-v1998-2-en.
- OECD/UNDP (2014), Making Development Co-operation More Effective: 2014 Progress Report, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264209305-en.
- Pal, S. (2011), "Impacts of CGIAR Crop Improvement and Natural Resource Management Research: A Review of Evidence", Agricultural Economics Research Review, Vol. 24, Issue 2, Agricultural Economics Research Association, New Delhi, pp. 185-200.
- Pearson, J. (2011), Learning Package on Capacity Development, Learning Network on Capacity Development (LenCD), www.lencd.org/learning.
- Perez, Franz (2013), Fast Start Finance Switzerland, http://unfccc.int/files/cooperation_support/financial_mechanism/fast_start_finance/application/pdf/switzerland_faststart-financing_november_2013_warsaw.pdf.
- Pingali, P. and T. Kelley (2007), "Chapter 45: The Role of International Agricultural Research in Contributing to Global Food Security and Poverty Alleviation: The Case of the CGIAR", *Handbook of Agricultural Economics*, Vol. 3, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 2418.
- Popp, D. (2009), "Policies for the Development and Transfer of Eco-Innovations: Lessons from the Literature", *OECD Environment Working Papers*, No. 10, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/218676702383.
- Renkow, M. and D. Byerlee (2010), "The Impacts of CGIAR Research: A Review of Recent Evidence", *Food Policy*, Vol. 35 Issue 5, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 391-402.
- REN21 (2011), Renewables 2011: Global Status Report, REN21, Paris, www.ren21.net/.
- SCF (Standing Committee on Finance) (2014), "2014 Biennial Assessment and Overview of Climate Finance Flows Report", UNFCCC Standing Committee on Finance, UNFCCC, Bonn.
- SEDD (Secrétariat d'Etat au Développement Durable) (2014), *Premier Rapport Biennal de la Tunisie*, SEDD, Ministère de l'Equipement, de l'Aménagement du Territoire et du Développement Durable, République Tunisienne, Tunis.
- SDSN (Sustainable Development Solutions Network) (2015), *Indicators and a Monitoring Framework for Sustainable Development Goals*, Revised working draft for consultation, SDSN, Paris.
- Siemens (2012), Current Trends in Renewable Energy Markets, www.iea.org/media/weowebsite/ebc/meetings/ebcmeeting-12-13june2012/SiemensTrendsinRenewableEnergyMarkets.pdf.
- Sill, T. (2013), "TEC Brief: Implementing the Results of TNAs", presentation made at the 7th meeting of the Technology Executive Committee in-session workshop on technology needs assessments, 6 September, Bonn.
- Simister, N and R. Smith (2010), *Monitoring and Evaluating Capacity Building: Is it really that Difficult?*, Praxis Paper 23, International NGO Research and Training Centre (INTRAC), Oxford.
- Singla, S. and M. Sagar (2012), "Integrated Risk Management in Agriculture: an Inductive Research", *The Journal of Risk Finance*, Vol. 13 Issue 3, Emerald Group Publishing Limited, Bingley, pp.199 214.
- Sumitomo Corporation (2012), "Sumitomo Subsidiary Signs Key Agreements for Dorper Wind Farm Project in South Africa", Sumitomo Corporation News Release, 6 November, www.sumitomocorp.co.jp/english/news/detail/id=25525.
- Talley, Trigg (2013), Lessons Learned from Fast Start Finance: A U.S. Perspective, http://unfccc.int/files/cooperation_support/financial_mechanism/fast_start_finance/application/pdf/u_s_lessons_learned_from_fsf_v4.pdf.
- TEC (Technology Executive Committee) (2014), Good Practices of Technology Needs Assessments, *Ninth meeting of the Technology Executive Committee*, Langer Eugen, UNFCCC, Bonn.
- TEC (2013a), Report on the Thematic Dialogues on Enabling Environments and Barriers to Technology Development and Transfer, 22 August, TEC/2013/7/10.

- TEC (2013b), "Results and Success Factors of TNAs", TEC Brief, Technology Executive Committee, UNFCCC Secretariat, Bonn.
- Ubels, J., Fowler, A. and N-A Acquaye-Baddoo (2010), "A Resource Volume on Capacity Development", in Ubels, J. Acquaye-Baddoo, N-A., and A. Fowler (eds.) *Capacity Development in Practice*, Earthscan, London.
- UNDESA (2014) "Substantive informal session: 'Trade, technology and capacity building and other non-financial means of implementation'", *Preparatory Process for the Third International Conference on Financing for Development*, United Nations, New York.
- UNDP (2010), Monitoring Guidelines of Capacity Development in GEF Operations, Capacity Development Initiative, Global Support Programme, UNDP, Nairobi.
- UNEP (2014), The Adaptation Gap Report 2014: A Preliminary Assessment Report. www.unep.org/climatechange/adaptation/gapreport2014/.
- UNEP-UNDP (2011), Mainstreaming Climate Change Adaptation into Development Planning: A Guide for Practitioner, UNDP-UNEP Poverty-Environment Initiative.
- UNESCAP (not dated), Case Study China's Renewable Energy Policies, UNFCCC, Bonn www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/14.%20CS-China-Renewable-Energy-Policies.pdf.
- UNFCCC (2015) "Negotiating text", Working of the Contact Group on Item 3, Ad Hoc Working Group on the Durban Platform for Enhanced Action, Second session, part eight, 8-13 February 2015, Geneva, Switzerland.
- UNFCCC (2014a), Summary Report on the Third Meeting of the Durban Forum: Note by the Secretariat, 8 September, FCCC/SBI/2014/14, UNFCCC, Bonn.
- UNFCCC (2014b), Synthesis Report on the Implementation of the Framework for Capacity-building in Developing Countries, 8 April, FCCC/SBI/2014/2, UNFCCC, Bonn.
- UNFCCC (2014c), "Technical paper on the second review of the Adaptation Fund", FCCC/TP/2014/7, UNFCCC, Bonn.
- UNFCCC (2014d), "Report of the Global Environment Facility to the Conference of the Parties", Conference of the Parties, Twentieth session, Lima, 1-12 December 2014, UNFCCC/CP/2014/2/Add.1.
- UNFCCC (2014e), Finance Portal for Climate Change website, www3.unfccc.int/pls/apex/f?p=116:45:464830717358094.
- UNFCCC (2013a), Submissions on information from developed country Parties on the resources provided to fulfil the commitment referred to in decision 1/CP.16, paragraph 95. Note by the secretariat, http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2013/cop19/eng/inf01.pdf.
- UNFCCC (2013b), Third Synthesis Report on Technology Needs Identified by Parties not Included in Annex I to the Convention: Note by the Secretariat, 21 October, FCCC/SBSTA/2013/INF.7, UNFCCC, Bonn.
- UNFCCC (2013c), Summary Report on the 2nd Meeting of the Durban Platform: Note by the Secretariat, 2 September, SBI/2013/12, UNFCCC, Bonn.
- UNFCCC (2012), Summary Report on the First Meeting of the Durban Forum on Capacity-building: Note by the Secretariat, 14 September, FCCC/SBI/2012/20, UNFCCC, Bonn.
- UNFCCC (2011), Report of the Conference of the Parties on its seventeenth session, held in Durban from 28 November to 11 December 2011, *Decision 1/CP.17*.
- UNFCCC (2010a), Report of the Conference of the Parties on its sixteenth session, held in Cancun from 29 November to 10 December 2010, *Decision 1/CP.16*.
- UNFCCC (2010b) Outcome of the work of the Ad Hoc Working Group on long-term Cooperative Action under the Convention, UNFCCC, Bonn, https://unfccc.int/files/meetings/cop_16/application/pdf/cop16_lca.pdf.
- UNFCCC (2008), "Draft terms of reference for the second comprehensive review of the capacity-building framework contained in decision 2/CP.7", Note by the Secretariat, FCCC/SBI/2008/2, UNFCCC Secretariat, Bonn.
- UNFCCC (2002), Guidelines for the preparation of national communications from Parties not included in Annex I to the Convention, Decision 17/CP.8, UNFCCC, Bonn, http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/cop8/07a02.pdf#page=2.
- UNGA (2014) General Assembly Structured Dialogues on: 'Possible arrangements for a facilitation mechanism to promote the development, transfer and dissemination of clean and environmentally sound technologies', United Nations, New York
- UNGA (2013) Technology Bank and Science, Technology and Innovation Supporting Mechanism Dedicated to the Least Developed Countries, Sixty-eighth session.
- UNDP (2011), Practitioner's Guide: Capacity Development for Environmental Sustainability, UNDP, New York.
- Watson, D. (2010), "Combining the 'Best of Two Worlds' in Monitoring and Evaluation of Capacity Development", in Ubels, J. Acquaye-Baddoo, N-A., and A. Fowler (eds.) *Capacity Development in Practice*, Earthscan, London.

- Whitley, S. (2013), *Time to Change the Game: Fossil Fuel Subsidies and Climate*, ODI (Overseas Development Institute), London, www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/8668.pdf.
- World Bank (2015), World Bank Green Bond Issuances to Date, http://treasury.worldbank.org/cmd/htm/GreenBondIssuancesToDate.html.
- World Bank (2013), Toward a Sustainable Energy Future for All: Directions for the World Bank Group's Energy Sector, www.worldbank.org/content/dam/Worldbank/document/SDN/energy-2013-0281-2.pdf.
- WBG (World Bank Group) (2014), *Adaptation Trust Fund: Financial Report Prepared by the Trustee, as of December 31,* 2014, The World Bank Group Financial Intermediary Funds, The World Bank Group, Washington D.C.
- WBI (2012), Guide to Evaluating Capacity Development Results, World Bank Institute (WBI) Capacity Development and Results, The World Bank, Washington D.C.
- WRI (World Resources Institute) (2005) Diverging Paths: What Future for ECAs in Development Finance?, The World Resources Institute, Washington, D.C.

Glossary

ADB Asian Development Bank

ADP Ad hoc Working Group on the Durban Platform for Enhanced Action

AF Adaptation Fund

AfDB African Development Bank APEC Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation

ARC African Risk Capacity
BR Biennial Report
BUR Biennial Update Report
CAF Cancun Adaptation Framework

CB Capacity Building CBI Climate Bonds Initiative **CCXG** Climate Change Expert Group **CCS** Carbon Capture and Storage CDM Clean Development Mechanism CDP Carbon Disclosure Project CEM Clean Energy Ministerial Certified Emission Reduction CER

CGIAR Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research

CHP Combined Heat and Power

CMP Conference of the Parties serving as the Meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol

COP Conference of the Parties to the UNFCCC

CPI Climate Policy Initiative

CTCN Climate Technology Centre and Network

CTI Carbon Tracker Initiative

DAC Development Co-operation Directorate (OECD)
EBRD European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

EC European Commission
ECA Export Credit Agency
EIB European Investment Bank

FAO Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations

FM Financial Mechanism FSF Fast Start Finance

GCEC Global Commission on the Economy and Climate

GCF Green Climate Fund
GDP Gross Domestic Product
GEF Global Environmental Facility

GHG Greenhouse Gas
GNI Gross National Income

GW Gigawatt
G20 Group of Twenty

ICT Information and Communications Technology

IEA International Energy Agency

IGES Institute for Global Environmental Strategies
INDC Intended Nationally-determined Contributions
IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

IPR Intellectual Property Rights

IRENA International Renewable Energy Agency

KP Kyoto Protocol

LCCRLow-carbon climate-resilientLCRLocal-content requirementsLDCLeast Developed CountryLDCFLeast Developed Countries FundLEGLeast Developed Countries Expert GroupMDBMultilateral Development Bank

MRV Measurable, Reportable and Verifiable
NAMA Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions
NAPA National Adaptation Programme of Action

NAP National Adaptation Plan
 NGO Non-Governmental Organisation
 NWP Nairobi Work Programme
 ODI Overseas Development Institute

OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

PSF Private Sector Facility

PV Photovoltaic

RD&D Research, Development and Deployment SBI Subsidiary Body for Implementation

SBSTA Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice

SDSN Sustainable Development Solutions Network

SCF Standing Committee on Finance
SDG Sustainable Development Goal
SIDS Small Island Development States
STI Science, Technology and Innovation

TAP Technology Action Plan

TEC Technology Executive Committee
TM Technological Mechanism
TNA Technology Needs Assessment

TT Technology Transfer UN United Nations

UNDESA United Nations Department of Economics and Social Affairs

UNDP United Nations Development Programme
UNEP United Nations Environment Programme

UNESCAP United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific

UNFCCC United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

UN-REDD United Nations collaborative initiative on Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation (REDD) in developing

WRI World Resource Institute

www.oecd.org/cc/ccxg.htm www.iea.org